XKBHEEEERABR A A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESHSEMAZNERLR)
Stock Code B3 L55 : 8617

@ BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT & %

B 2021




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this annual report.

This report, for which the directors (collectively the “Directors” and each the
‘Director’) of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’, and together

"o

with its subsidiaries, the "Group”, "we", "our” or "us") collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange (the "GEM
Listing Rules") for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Group.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge and belief (i) the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (i)
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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FOR THE YEAR

Highlights of consolidated statements of comprehensive

income

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit before taxation
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
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Financial Highlights
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£R
GRERAWRKRAE

FY2021
—=—_

—_—

MBFE

HK$’000
TET

132,250
54,510
41,866
35,086

36,457

FY2020
—E-F
B FEE
HK$'000

TET

69,499
26,137
16,252
13,644

16,676
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Financial Highlights
B 75 1 2

AT YEAREND =
Highlights of consolidated statements of financial positions REMBRIRBE
FY2021 FY2020
—s-—
BRFEE
HK$’000 HKS'000
TExT TF&TT
Non-current assets EREEE 19,045 12,846
Current assets mENEE 125,155 94,741
Current liabilities mBAaE (14,669) (6/434)
Net current assets BB EFE 110,486 88,307
Net assets BEFR 129,531 101,074
Revenue &

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—HLEE

2021
—E_—F
HK$’ 000 HKS$'000
THExT FHET
Slewing rings HEEE S
— ODM — ODM 34,473 26.1 25,972 374
— OEM — OEM 525 0.4 421 0.6
— OBM — OBM 1,477 1.1 3,534 5.1
— Others rings — H A 22,481 17.0 5,033 72
58,956 44.6 34,960 50.3
Machineries and other parts H g & SR
— Other machineries — E A A 39,127 29.6 17,220 248
— Other parts — HAbEB 34,167 25.8 17,319 249
73,294 55.4 34,539 497
132,250 100.0 69,499 100.0

Note:  Other rings mainly include revenue derived from the sales of slewing rings that we do not M B AT EAEREHEERMERTELENRE
currently produce. SR ES
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Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries, (the “Group”), is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and
other mechanical parts, and an “one-stop service” provider as it is able to
source other slewing rings, machineries and mechanical parts and
components for machineries of its customers. We manufacture slewing rings
that conform to applicable Japanese Industrial Standards (JIS), which has
higher quality control requirements than that produced in many other
countries in the world. Since 2020, the Group has developed new products
and a wider range of servicing by manufacturing other mechanical parts and
components for machineries besides slewing rings. Most machineries and
parts supplied by the leading suppliers in Japan were fit for the Group's
sourcing needs and with specifications not commonly supplied by other
market suppliers. Our principal subsidiaries include Best Linking Limited ("Best
linking"), Wing Fung Machinery Company Limited (“Wing Fung") and Kyoei
Seiki Co,, Limited ("Kyoei Seiki").

Our Group's business commenced in 2007 when Mr. Chan Yuk Pan, the
executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the
Controlling Shareholder of our Group, utilised the internal resources of Wing
Fung, the investment holding company of Kyoei Seiki, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong in November 2005, to establish Kyoei Seiki in
September 2007. Since 2012, Best Linking commenced distribution of slewing
rings manufactured by Kyoei Seiki and sourcing of other products for our
customers.

We have expanded our customer base significantly since our commencement
of business. In 2010, impressed by our products, a listed company on the
Singapore Exchange, which was principally engaged in the trading of heavy
machinery and diesel engine parts, and a leading machinery and parts supply
company in Japan became our customer and entered into business
relationship with us ever since. From 2011 to 2015, three Japanese equipment
manufacturers also became our regular original equipment manufacturing
("OEM") customers.

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability on 26 October 2018. On 15 November 2019 (the “Listing
Date”), the shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way of the offering of 100,000,000
new shares (the “Share Offer’) (the “Listing").

As our business continued to grow with continuous successes in global sales
and further reinforcement of the Group'’s brand recognition and awareness
following the Listing, the Group is positioned as one of the fastest growing
“one-stop service” providers in the field of slewing rings and other mechanical
parts. The Group will continue its effort to promote its brand as well as to
provide quality products and seize business opportunities in various regions.

About Us
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company has resolved to announce the annual consolidated
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 on 22 March 2022. The
total revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$132.3 million (2020: HK$69.5 million), representing a
significant increase of approximately 90.3% when compared to the last
financial year. The net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company was increased to approximately HK$35.1 million (net profit in 2020:
HKS$13.6 million). Basic and diluted earnings per share was approximately 8.8
HK cents (2020: 3.4 HK cents).

The Board reviewed that the Group's result for the financial year ended 31
December 2021. The Group achieved record highs in terms of its revenue as
well as profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company. The
Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share,
bring the total distribution for the financial year ended 31 December to
HKS$4.0 cents per share.
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (the “COVID-19
outbreak”) has caused many organisations and companies to rethink and
reconfigure their businesses for a changed world. The Group’s competitive
advantages as an “one-stop service” provider has been even more
accentuated amid the COVID-19 outbreak, with the surging demand for the
sourcing of other slewing rings, machineries, mechanical parts and
components for its customers. Thanks to the expanding manufacturing sector
in the PRC, in addition to slewing rings, the Group has been developing new
products and services by manufacturing other mechanical parts and
components for machineries. These new products enable the Group to
broaden the scope of its business with its existing customers as well as new
customers. Such mechanical parts and components are fundamental parts of
machineries which the Group had sourced for its customers in the past.

The Group is positioned as one of the fastest growing “one-stop service”
providers in the field of slewing rings. We will continue our effort to promote
our brand as well as to provide quality products and seize business
opportunities in various regions.

ERWE
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEWmE

OUTLOOK

The Directors are looking forward that the Group’s sourcing business will
become even more stronger and continue to grow with tremendous
potential. With a proven track record and strong foothold in the industry, the
Group will endeavour to maintain a steady growth in its sourcing business to
maximise the return for the Company’s shareholders. Besides we will continue
to enhance the factory automation to alleviate the impact of continuing
increase in labour costs and overheads in the PRC. We will also continue to
enhance our brand recognition and awareness, strengthen our production
team and promote our corporate reputation.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business associates and the
most valued shareholders for their continuing trust and support for the Group,
and to our directors, management and staff for their commitment and
valuable contribution during the past year.

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a premium manufacturer of slewing rings and other mechanical
parts, and an “one-stop service” provider as it is able to source other slewing
rings, machineries and mechanical parts and components for machineries of
its customers.

We manufacture slewing rings that conform to applicable Japanese Industrial
Standards (JIS), which has higher quality control requirements than that
produced in many other countries in the world. Since 2020, the Group has
utilised the proceeds from the Listing and has developed new products and
provided a wider range of services by manufacturing other mechanical parts
and components for machineries besides slewing rings. Most machineries and
parts supplied by the leading suppliers in Japan were fit for the Group's
sourcing needs and with specifications not commonly supplied by other
market suppliers.

The COVID-19 outbreak has caused many organisations and companies to
rethink and reconfigure their businesses for a changed world. The Group's
superiority as an “one-stop service” provider has been even more accentuated
amid the COVID-19 outbreak, with the surging demand for sourcing other
slewing rings, machineries, mechanical parts and components for its
customers.

Despite the energy shortage caused by the huge consumption of electricity
by factories in the PRC which led to power cuts in both domestic and
non-domestic sectors across China, the impact to the Group was minimal. The
Group has taken a swift response by fine-tuning and adjusting the production
planning and actively monitoring the production costs.

The Group continued to demonstrate its competence and business resilience
in such adverse environment, with continuous successes in global sales and
further reinforcement of the Group's brand recognition and awareness. The
Group is positioned as one of the fastest growing “one-stop service” providers
in the field of slewing rings. The Group will continue its effort to promote its
brand as well as to provide high quality products and seize business
opportunities in various regions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
".—“’—ﬁf%é\—'l-é/—\ /‘\jﬂ-’r
=) = A'J pff 7]

The overall performance of the Group in 2021 significantly improved as AEBR T - —FHEEXER _T_TF
compared with 2020. The Group's revenue increased by 90.3% to HK$132.3  KiEEZ - AEB AW ZRIB INK03%EEHE
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared to HK$69.5 million T -—F+_-A=+—HILFEM1323E85
for the year ended 31 December 2020. Most products recorded notable  Bit MBE T -_ZF+_A=1+—HILF
growth, especially in machineries and other parts. The Group will continue its ~ E I A695 B BB - AR D ERDIREBEE
effort to promote its brand as well as to provide high quality products and ~ #& » S HEE#E R EMEESEH - NEES
seize business opportunities in various regions. HESD HEEETRE  ARRERLEE
m o B SR o

The following table sets forth the breakdown of quantities sold by product TRAIEHE ST _ZTFN_T_-_—F+_H
category for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 =+ —RIEFEREREREISHIHEEAMA

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E—— —E-FF
sets Sets (%)
= = (%)
Quantities sold EEHE
Slewing rings o 7 R
— ODM — ODM 2,375 3.0 2,202 223 173 7.9
— OEM — OEM 158 0.2 130 13.0 28 215
— OBM — OBM 153 0.2 322 3.2 (169) (52.5)
— Others — HAph 1,164 1.5 319 32 845 264.9
3,850 4.8 2,973 30.0 877 295
Machineries and other parts At 484 K2 2B
— Other parts — HAb B
— ODM — ODM 68,305 85.8 2,816 285 65,489 2,325.6
— Other — HAh 7,372 9.3 4,096 414 3,276 80.0
75,677 95.1 6,912 69.9 68,765 9949
— Other machineries — E 71 0.1 10 0.1 61 6100
75,748 95.2 6,922 70.0 68,826 9943
Total @t 79,598 100.0 9,895 100.0 69,703 7044
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on an original design manufacturing (“ODM") basis. The ODM
customers include companies engaged in general wholesale trading and the
distribution of machineries and equipments or their parts, which will be re-
sold to end-users in the market and for the provision of related after-sales
services. The ODM business leverages on the Group's in-depth market
knowledge and know-how accumulated through years of experience since
the Group's inception. The Group is able to produce different models of
slewing rings for its customers. In the case of replacement of slewing rings, the
Group can also manufacture slewing rings which already ceased production.

In addition, the Group manufactures for some overseas customers on an OEM
basis. Some of the leading Japanese manufacturers of machineries and
equipments or their affiliates are our OEM customers. The OEM business
includes the manufacture and sales of products based on customers’
specifications and guidelines. The Group also derives its revenue from the
sales of our proprietary branded products under an original brand
manufacturer (“OBM”) basis.

For slewing rings not manufactured by the Group, the Group also sources
such slewing rings for its recurring customers. The slewing rings that we
source for our customers are mainly (i) models which we do not currently
produce; and (i) those which would not be commercially worthwhile for our
Group to produce ourselves when compared to sourcing due to small scale
orders or low profit margin.

During 2021, the increase in sales of slewing rings was mainly attributed to the
ODM business and the business in the sourcing of other slewing rings we do
not produce. We have an international customer base which have attracted
several new ODM customers. We are able to produce slewing rings adopting
the applicable national standards and can meet the customers’ requirements
at the same time. Meanwhile, benefiting from the sales marketing efforts as
well as the promotion of our advantages as an “one-stop service” provider,
more and more customers have approached us and used our sourcing service.
The new customers include a nominated supplier of a theme park and resort
in Hong Kong. We sourced slewing rings and delivered to the theme park as
instructed by such nominated supplier.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WM

Machineries and other parts

The Group also sources machineries, mechanical parts and components for its
customers. It complements the main line of business enabling the customers
to enjoy a more comprehensive “one-stop service”. Such machineries,
mechanical parts and components include but not limited to excavators and
undercarriage parts such as track chains, rollers and track shoes. Since 2020,
the Group has developed new products and provided a wider range of
services by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for
machineries besides slewing rings.

The major reason for the increase in sales in machineries and other parts was
due to the Group's relationship with leading suppliers in Japan which were in
a position to produce slewing rings, machineries, mechanical parts and
components not commonly supplied by other market suppliers. Meanwhile,
the Group's development of new products and services by manufacturing
other mechanical parts and components for machineries in 2020 had
continued to grow in 2021. These newly developed products had enabled the
Group to broaden the scope of its business with existing customers as well as
the finding of new customers, which led to the growth of our sourcing
business as such mechanical parts and components are fundamental parts of
machineries which the Group had sourced for its customers in the past.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% [B] B8
REVENUE Uk &5

The Group's revenue increased significantly by 90.3% or HK$62.8 million from  ANEBHKREHEE T _TF+_-_A=1+—

HK$69.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$132.3 million for |- [E #969.5 B & i 7T AIE 1L 11 90.3% 3£ 62.8 &

the year ended 31 December 2021. Most products recorded notable growth, B 2HEZE—_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—HIt

especially in the Machineries and other parts. FEMINIBEAET - KB HEMBREERE
FHIE - JCE R R B At BB

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by product TRAIEHE T _EFLN_T_—F+_H
category for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021: =+ —RIEFERERERE S KA

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t+—ALEE

2021 2020 +()
—E-—fF —EETF
HK$’000 (%)  HK$'000 %)  HK$'000
FBxT (%) THT %) FTAT
Revenue Uy &
Slewing rings eI
— ODM — ODM 34,473 26.1 25,972 374 8,501 327
— OEM — OEM 525 0.4 421 06 104 247
— OBM — OBM 1,477 1.1 3,534 5.1 (2,057) (58.2)
— Others rings — E 3 22,481 17.0 5,033 7.2 17,448 346.7
58,956 44.6 34,960 503 23,996 686
Machineries and other parts H g & SR 4
— Other parts — E 34
— ODM — ODM 8,311 6.3 5,581 8.0 2,730 489
— Others — Hity 25,856 19.6 11,738 16.9 14,118 1203
34,167 25.8 17,319 249 16,848 97.3
— Other machineries — E A 39,127 29.6 17,220 12438 21,907 127.2
73,294 55.4 34539 497 38755 1122
Total et 132,250 100.0 69,499 100.0 62,751 903
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BEEN WM

Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on ODM, OEM and OBM basis. Revenue from slewing rings increased
by approximately HK$24.0 million to HK$59.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Reporting Period’), as compared to year ended 31
December 2020, representing an increase of 68.6%.

The increase in sales of slewing rings was mainly attributed to the ODM
business and the sourcing business of other slewing rings. We have an
international customer base and are able to produce slewing rings adopting
applicable national standards and can at the same time meet customers’
requirements. Because of our advantages, the Group had attracted several
new ODM customers. The new customers contributed approximately HK$3.6
million to the revenue of the ODM business. Meanwhile, benefiting from the
marketing efforts as well as the promotion of our advantages as an “one-stop
service” provider, more and more customers have approached us and used
our sourcing service which attributed to approximately HK$17.4 million in
revenue. These new customers included a nominated supplier of a theme
park and resort in Hong Kong. We sourced the slewing rings and delivered to
the theme park as instructed by such nominated supplier.

The sales of slewing rings accounted for approximately 44.6% in revenue, and
approximately 52.1% of the Group's total gross profit.
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Machineries and other parts

The Group also sources machineries, mechanical parts and components for
customers. Such machineries, mechanical parts and components included but
not limited to excavators, undercarriage parts such as track chains, rollers and
track shoes. Since 2020, the Group has developed new products and a wider
range of servicing by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components
for machineries besides slewing rings. Revenue from the machineries and
other parts increased by approximately 112.2% year-on-year or HK$38.8
million, from HK$34.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
HK$73.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Significant revenue growth of 127.2% and 97.3% were achieved in machineries
and other parts, respectively as compared to the year ended 31 December
2020. The sales of machineries had seen the biggest growth with a record
high shipment of 71 units of machineries during the year. For the sourcing
business, most machineries and parts supplied by the leading suppliers in
Japan were fit for the Group’s sourcing needs and with specifications not
commonly supplied by other market suppliers.

The major increase in the sales of the other parts was attributable to the
Group's development in manufacturing new mechanical parts and
components for machineries in 2020 which continued to grow in 2021. These
newly developed products had enabled the Group to broaden the scope of its
business with existing customers as well as the finding of new customers,
which led to the growth of its sourcing business as such mechanical parts and
components are fundamental parts of machineries which the Group had
sourced for its customers in the past.

The sales of machineries and other parts accounted for approximately 29.6%
and 25.8% of the total revenue, respectively, amounting to approximately
19.3% and 28.6% of the Group's total gross profit, respectively.
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B B R AR L o AT

Geographical location IR B

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by geographical TRAIEHE —_E-_—FRN_T_ZTF+_H

location of our customers for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: =+—H ﬁfﬁfiﬁ%}fiﬂzﬁuﬁiﬂ A ) U 2 B
4

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-HLKFE

2021 2020 +/(-)
—E-—fF —EF-ETF
HK$000 (%)  HKS$'000 %)  HK$'000
FET (%) TAT @)  TET

Singapore Hhnig 45,858 34.7 24120 347 21,738 90.1
Hong Kong BB 40,961 31.0 18,134 26.1 22,827 1259
Philippines JEEE 20,007 15.1 1,215 17 18,792 1,546.7
Malaysia Bk pE s 10,412 7.9 8,555 123 1,857 217
Japan SN 7,171 5.4 3,421 49 3,750 109.6
Taiwan =y 1,494 1.1 823 12 671 815
New Zealand il 1,439 1.1 - - 1,439 N/A
The PRC == 1,436 1.1 1,391 2.0 45 32
Vietnam HE 1,379 1.0 - - 1,379 N/A
Northern Ireland L E B 1,215 0.9 10,109 14.5 (8,894) (87.9)
Canada hnsxX 518 0.4 166 0.2 352 2120
Others Hith 360 0.3 556 0.9 (196) (35.3)
Thailand =EH - - 1,009 15 (1,009) (100.0)

132,250 100.0 69,499 100.0 62,751 90.3

Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN") countries continue to be FETEEEBE((RE RS NASNER
the key market for the Group, especially the Singaporean and Malaysian WEEHIE  LHEFIERERFESHIE -
markets where the Group has footprints for about 10 years. By leveraging the REBRZETIEL T B4 TE o 28— 28—
opportunity of initiatives behind The Belt and Road Initiative, Malaysia has BEEMMIE  EXRFTSHEAESEERESE
cooperated with China to carry out a number of infrastructure construction  =zs TiRIEE o ZEHE T2 — B HEED
projects. Such infrastructural constructions have driven the demand for  pybmm v A EES - KD EZERRGE
slewing rings for construction equipments. We have built a strong foundation BT BE R o [ - e A AR

with customers in these countries. At the same time, the traditional demand AMYERIEEEHNARS RN ESE b
for natural resources from forestry and mining activities for construction and FIRAEER o

heavy equipments also benefit our Group.
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Revenue generated from the Singaporean market increased from
approximately HK$24.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 by
approximately 90.19% or HK$21.7 million to HK$45.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The revenue generated from the Malaysian market
increased from HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 by
approximately 21.7% or HK$1.9 million to HK$10.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. Two major customers located in Singapore are wholesale
traders of slewing rings. Our slewing rings were re-sold to other countries such
as the United States and Europe through these customers. During the year,
contribution by these two major customers in Singapore increased by
approximately HK$19.1 million, or 90.6%, from approximately HK$21.1
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$40.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

million

Globally, the Group'’s customers may still face challenging times during the
COVID-19 outbreak. In response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and in
order to meet the needs of diverse business activities of our customers, the
Group has devoted more resources to enhance our research and
development for new products. The Group's sourcing business in Hong Kong
plays an important role. This strategic adjustment initiative has proven to be
beneficial to the Group in maintaining its competitive advantage as an “one-
stop service” provider, which led to increase in revenue. Revenue generated
from Hong Kong, and other overseas markets in Japan, the Philippines and
New Zealand during the year had increased by approximately HK$22.8 million,
HK$3.8 million, HK$18.8 million and HK$1.4 million, respectively. This was
mainly attributed by the increase in sales of machineries and other parts
together with customers utilising the Group’s “one-stop service”, thus ordering
more machineries and mechanical parts alongside slewing rings during the
year ended 31 December 2021, when compared to the year ended 31
December 2020.

On the other hand, the revenue generated from the market in Northern
Ireland decreased from approximately HK$10.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 by approximately 87.9% or HK$8.9 million to HK$1.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was mainly due to the
change of product mix on the orders placed by a customer in Northern
Ireland, when this customer purchased mainly machineries in 2020 while it
purchased mainly slewing rings in 2021. The sale price of machineries are
generally higher than that for slewing rings.
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B B R AR L o AT

COST OF SALES

The following table sets out the breakdown of our costs of sales for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

%%ﬁ¢
:+ Eti&%ﬁ%ﬁ$%%-

=

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1T—HLEE

2021 2020 +/()
—E-—F ZETF
HK$’000 (%)  HK$'000 %)  HK$'000
FE&xT (%) TFTET ) FTAT
Cost of sales $HE B A
Cost of inventories and consumables 775 & S& ¥ 5 A% 24X 70,004 90.1 36,865 85.0 33,139 89.9
Depreciation e 1,194 1.5 1357 3.1 (163) (12.0)
Overheads R 2 R 1,646 2.1 1,331 3.1 315 237
Direct labour costs BESTKA 4,896 6.3 3,809 88 1,087 285
Total et 77,740 100.0 43362 1000 34378 79.3

The cost of sales primarily consists of costs of inventories and consumables,
depreciation on plant and machinery, overheads and direct labour costs
relating to its production. The Group’s cost of sales increased from
approximately HK$43.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 by
approximately 79.3% or HK$34.3 million to HKS$77.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, which was primarily due to the increase in revenue and
the need to produce a different product mix during the year.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group increased from HK$8.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 by approximately 25.4% or HK$2.1 million
to approximately HK$10.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in staff cost by approximately HK$1.5
million and the net increase in other administrative expenses by
approximately HK$0.4 million. Other administrative expenses mainly represent
the provision for auditor's remuneration and the legal and professional fees,
which assisted the Group to enhance its corporate governance and
compliance aspects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$35.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared to approximately
HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash flows and
proceeds received from the Listing. As at 31 December 2021, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents were HK$56.4 million, increased by approximately 30.7%
or HK$13.3 million, as compared with HK$43.1 million as at 31 December 2020.
The increase was mainly attributable to increase in profit and net off by the
utilisation of the one-off receipt of proceeds from the Listing in 2019. Bank
deposits and cash were principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United
States dollars and Renminbi. The Group will continue to use the internally
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a source of
funding for future developments.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's total current assets and current liabilities
were approximately HK$125.2 million (as at 31 December 2020: HK$94.7
million) and HK$14.7 million (as at 31 December 2020: HKS$6.4 million)
respectively, representing a current ratio of 8.5 times (as at 31 December 2020:
14.8 times). As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any bank
borrowings (as at 31 December 2020: Nil). As at 31 December 2021, the total
interest-bearing bills payables was approximately HK$7.0 million (as at 31
December 2020: HK$0.9 million) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 5.4%
(as at 31 December 2020: 0.9%). The gearing ratio equals total interest bearing
bills payables divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.
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BEEN WM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the share capital of the Group comprised only
ordinary shares. The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of
obligations under finance leases and equity attributable to owners of the
Group, comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained profits and
other reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 15 November 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 shares by
way of Hong Kong public offering and placing at a price of HK$0.55 per share,
and successfully listed its shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The net proceeds of the Share Offer received by the Company in relation to
the Listing after the deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and all
related expenses were approximately HK$28.4 million. Pursuant to the
announcement dated 9 September 2020 issued by the Company, the Board
announced and resolved to change the use of the net proceeds as set out in
the prospectus. As at the report date, the directors consider that these
proceeds have been applied in accordance with the proposed application set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Proposed Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2019 (the “Prospectus’) and as
amended in the announcement.
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Details of the original allocation of the net proceeds, the revised allocation of ~ FT/SIBFREM R DL - 15 I FEEH K
the net proceeds, the utilisation of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2021 5]l - RZE-_—F+_-_A=+—BFF
and the remaining balance after the revised allocation of the net proceeds as ~ FBEIFTISHRIBFHE UER T -—F+_ A8

at 31 December 2021 are set out as follows: =+ — B FIEFENCET DN T &
REFIBEHIAT
Use of proceeds FRSRERZR

Expected
Revised timeline
Percentage percentage Revised for the
of net of net Net Net Amount Amount intended
proceeds  proceeds proceeds proceeds utilized remaining use

CREEE e i) RERR
RBRE FENE g e HEA N - E
FEESL BIEAL WERE REAFE £ 8 KEX

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr ThEx TiEx TExR

Toacquire and replace machineriesand (B8 & & 12 %
equipment with anaim toenhanceand  s% & AIRFH

expand our production capacityatour ~ BEREES Q4 of 2022
production facilities in Dongguan, EERBRERY —E--
the PRC 60.60% 6060% 17210 17210 11905 5305 ENEE
To enlarge our market share and BATHOHER Q4 0f 2023
strengthen our marketing efforts MEEENE =E==
14.60% 440% 4,146 1,246 458 788 ENEE
To increase our level of automation REB#{KFE Q4 0f 2022
760% 7.60% 2,158 2,158 481 1677 ENEE
To establish our ERP system RILERP R Q4 of 2023
—E-=f
6.00% 6.00% 1,704 1,704 824 880 FMEE
To expand our finance department hE TS8R Q4 of 2023
5.00% 5.00% 1,420 1420 424 9% EMEFE
To enhance staff training JilE:A= Q4 0f 2023
e
0.80% 0.80% 27 27 14 213 EMEE
Working capital EEESE 5.40% 15.6% 1535 4435 4435 - NATER
100.00% 100% 28400 28,400 18,541 9,859

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has utilised approximately HK$18.5 million R=E=_—F+=-—H=+—8H ' A5EE&H
(as shown in the “Amount utilized” column of the table above). The unutilised #3185 B BB L (WM LR [FrEIAE%E ] —#
amount of the net proceeds have been deposited with licensed banks in ~ Fi7R) ° RBIAKASHIBFHEE FRNEE
Hong Kong. HIFRFREERTT ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE @ LT

Comparison of business objectives and actual business XK EHERERER 2R

progress

The following is a comparison between the Group's business plans as setout A N ASHRBREERE(R_ZT-_FFNA LB
in the Prospectus which were revised on 9 September 2020, and the Group’s ~ #&{E:] ) WA EB ¥ EI N AEEHEE -
actual business progress for the year ended 31 December 2021: T+ A=t HIFEEREKERE

Business plan as set out in the prospectus Actual business progress as at 31 December 2021

BRERERNERS T+ A=t -HNEBREKER

To acquire and replace machineries and equipment with ~ The Group was in the process of purchasing 16 units of machines
an aim to enhance and expand our production capacity at ~ and paid deposits of about HK$11.9 million for the machineries.

our production facilities in Dongguan, the PRC Eight of them (including high speed milling machines and raceway

FERENEERGEE L E BB NBREUIEA  quenching machines) arrived at our production facilities in 2021 and

ERe are being tested. These machineries are expected to come into use
in the first half of 2022.

AEBELERBE T e YARMSNO N BEETHNIZ
T HP N\ ol (BRESEREBERKRINREREANEK) ER
T -FRELERE ZFTRBHAREREE - ZF
HBHMIEMN — T - —F FXFRALA -

To enlarge our market share and strengthen our marketing ~ In light of the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 and the quarantine
efforts measures taken by the PRC and other countries and travel
L INEC ALY SYIIE: s Wal restrictions, the Group had withdrawn its enrolment to several trade
exhibitions and will refine its marketing plans.
BN T _TFREE COVID-19&1E - ARF B REMBIREK
ERBHE M RIRERS - AEEERH2EEEEIRES -
Wi e & B & &l -

During 2020 and 2021, the Group increased the workforce in the
sales department to strengthen the sales support. In addition, we
hired a consultant to design the web pages for the Group and to
provide advice in the promotion strategies.
RIB-TER_T-—F AEBRHEEEILMALN - A
BIHBEHE SR - I BAIEFRERARMRHAEL IR
HESRBEHNER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business plan as set out in the prospectus

B IR B R AR S AT

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2021

BRERERNRETE

To increase our level of automation

’m B KkF

To establish our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system

ARRILEEERBRE (ERP) MR

To expand our finance department

EIEE 5 B0

REB-Z-H+-A=1t—HNEBRXKER

The Group is discussing with a potential service provider on the
development of new equipments for automation and also the
redevelopment of the existing equipments to enhance the
automation level. The scheduled visit by service provider outside
Hong Kong was delayed due to the travel restrictions caused by the
COVID-19 outbreak.
AEBEFERBERGHEER I mAETNEBLERE UK
ENHABERERENES BB LKE - FEUIMNIRSHE
P TR ER R 55 B COVID-19 15 Hi BR 40 ik 02 B ) i S A2 -

At the same time, the Group had developed new equipments to
achieve automatic packaging, which are now in use.

AR AEBDARBHRE  UEREHLEE  BRER
A& -

The Group has appointed a system service provider and signed a
contract in 2021. The Group is aiming to develop a system to
enhance data management, especially in the areas of staff
attendance, payroll accounting and other aspects such as document
control.
RAEECRERGRBHER IR S —FiIHER - K
SEEERE —EFRRABBREEXRE  LHISEITEY -
ITEZE R T EREHMTH °

Meanwhile, the Group has improved the current system by
increasing the capacity and efficiency in data processing.

R - AEBBBREABBEENENNEENY  HERE
R e

The Group had recruited a senior accountant and an accountant
respectively during the third quarter of 2020 and the second quarter
of 2021, and continued to identify suitable and high-quality
candidates to expand the financial department.
REBECONE_Z_ZFE=FER_T_—FF_FE
FESRSFTE RS WESRESEEENREAR
FERAFERFT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B R AR L o AT

Business plan as set out in the prospectus

BRERERNRETE

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2020

REBCERFT A=t - HNEBREKER

To enhance staff training
onss 8 T3

To maintain sound working capital for operation

During 2020 and 2021, three of our trained employees were awarded
ISO quality management system certificates.
RIB-ZFER-_ZT_—F ZRIJIETIPE=-ABRFISOE
EEEBRIE -

The Group had prepared training courses for a number of personnel.
An employee in the quality assurance department has received
training in metrology to further strengthen our quality assurance
process.

REBR/ZZABEBEIIRE - —ZEEEREFIHFNE
BREKEER2T EAEI - WE - FIERBRMNESREE

12 o

The re-allocation of the net proceeds from the strengthening of
marketing efforts to supplementing the sound working capital for
the operation of the Company will be beneficial to meet the current
operation needs of the Group, increase its financial flexibility, and
provide a bigger buffer to cope with the future economic
uncertainty.

REBBMABTSEENMEFIBFRENHE - LERA
NRAEEMFNRREEES  BENKNMEREEE ATA
SERE EMEMBEENL  WRHET ZEEARNRRE
BT HEERRE -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had utilised approximately
HK$4.4 million as working capital for the development of on-going
operations, including the development of new products and services
by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components for
machineries besides slewing rings.

RZEZ—F+A=+—0 XEEEHAN44BEET -
ERAEFERENLEEELE S  RREBBREEREE A
B EL A B 1 R R A - B BT E o R IR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 80 employees (as at 31 December
2020: 78 employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification and
experience of each individual employee. The emoluments of the Directors are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), with reference to their respective contribution
of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s matters. In addition, employees
are entitled to performance and discretionary year-end bonuses.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by
pledged bank deposits with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$3,000,000 (as at 31 December 2020: HK$2,400,000).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

7 wm M 9 AT

S G

BEARE

RZZE-_—F+ZRA=+—H8 AEEILEH
BEMEAKRE -

EARBRLENRBAR - BEQ
AREEAT

REBZE-_E-_—F+=-_A=+—HILEE " &
EEMEEANBXKLERBRAR  BE QA

HABAT -

BERFHMBUR

R-B-_—F+-A=1+—8 K&EBEHEHF0
HEE(RZZE=ZEF+HA=1T—H:78%
BE) - HBNEL2ERTMHERLRIES
EEMEARR BEERERET ZEF 2
RS2 ERESAHARRETEMRAR
B BOARBERBREARFFHEZE S ([HH

if

FEG))ZEMBERET - 1o EEEHRE
BRARIMIEERIEL -
BEEH

N-ZBE-_—FE+-A=+—0  "&EEHNRT
BbE LA IR 1T/ 30A $£49 3,000,000 7T (A
—“E-FF+-H=+—H : 2400000){EHEIH o

EAREREFREENRRKE

BRAREREMIEES
BREREBABERE -

AEEYEEMEKR
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I\/\anagement Discussion and Analysis

& 19 8 5 R A I

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Our Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to USD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these
currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered into any agreement or
arrangement to hedge the Group’s exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HKD or RMB may have an impact on the
operating results of the Group.

The management considers that the foreign exchange risk with respect to
USD is not significant as HKD is pegged to USD and transactions denominated
in USD are mainly carried out by entities with the same functional currency.
The exchange rate of RMB to HKD is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

DIVIDEND

During the year, an interim dividend of HK 2.0 cents per share (2020: Nil),
amount to HK$8,000,000 was paid on 13 December 2021.

The Board now recommend the payment of final dividend HK2.0 cents per
share to the shareholders, amounting to a total sum of HK$8,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to keep an eye on the development of the COVID-19
pandemic, maintain close communication with customers and suppliers, as
well as review and timely adjust its strategies. In addition to serving our
customers, employees’ health and well-being is also the Group's top priority.

The Group established a pandemic prevention and control measures to
safeguard employees’ health and safety, introducing flexible remote working
arrangement and implementing efficient social distancing measures across all
our offices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our goal is to strengthen our position as a premium slewing ring
manufacturer, and to leverage on our competitive advantages as “one-stop
service” provider to expand the scale of our operation and increase our profit
margin. We also aim to increase our competitiveness in this fragmented
slewing rings manufacturing industry by (i) increasing our efficiency and
productivity; (ii) raising the quality of our products; and (iii) reducing our costs
of production and our reliance on manpower. To achieve such objectives, the
Group will continue to implement the following strategies:

acquiring and replacing machineries and equipment with an aim to
enhance and expand our production capacity at our production
facilities in Dongguan, the PRC;

enlarging our market share and strengthening our marketing efforts;
increasing our level of automation;

establishing our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system;

expanding our finance department; and

enhancing staff training.

B IR B R wm Ko AT

B ERREEAEE S ABESERN
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

As at 22 March 2022, the date of the Report of the Directors, the biographical
details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior management of Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’) are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (BRIEH.) (“Mr. YP Chan’), aged 42, is the executive
Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and the
Controlling Shareholder of our Group. He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. Since 2007, Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for
the overall management of our Group, including strategic planning, as well as
sales and business development. He was appointed director of Wing Fung,
Kyoei Seiki and Best Linking in June 2007, August 2007 and December 2018
respectively and was appointed Director on 26 October 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 12 March 2019.

Mr. YP Chan completed his Form 7 education in Avondale College in Auckland,
New Zealand. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. YP Chan attended Auckland University
of Technology and took courses in business computing, applied science and
information technology. In March 2004, Mr. YP Chan obtained a certificate in
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan.

Mr. YP Chan is an entrepreneur with over 10 years operational experience. He
was involved in the trading of machineries and spare parts in Hong Kong and
manufacture and sales of spare parts in the PRC. After completing the
advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese Language Institute of
Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan in 2004, Mr. YP Chan worked as a sales and
marketing executive in a company engaged in distribution and exportation of
confectionery and related products from December 2004 to December 2005
in Sapporo, Japan, which enabled him not only to further his Japanese
language skill, but also gave him the opportunity to develop his network
within the Japanese business community. After returning to Hong Kong,
starting from January 2006, he worked in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
as a sales and marketing executive and gained experience in the sale and
supply of heavy duty equipment and parts industry. In September 2007, he
founded Kyoei Seiki through Wing Fung which is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of slewing rings. Throughout the past 10 years, Mr.
YP Chan has established and maintained strong business relationship with
general wholesale traders or distributors of machineries or parts in Asia, USA,
Europe and Japan and gained valuable experience in the manufacture and
sale of spare parts for machineries.

Mr. YP Chan is the brother of Mr. LP Chan, an executive Director of the

Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (BREE#) (‘M. LP Chan’), aged 40, was appointed an executive
Director on 12 March 2019. He first joined our Group in November 2005 as
director and shareholder of Wing Fung. Wing Fung had no business
operations until September 2007 when Mr. YP Chan utilised his personal
resources and internal resources of Wing Fung to establish Kyoei Seiki. Mr. LP
Chan resigned from his directorship position in April 2011 to pursue his other
career development. He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee.
He is responsible for human resources management of our Group.

Mr. LP Chan attended Avondale College in Auckland, New Zealand, where he
was enrolled as an international student in Year 12 from February 1998 to
December 1999. He obtained his school certificate from the New Zealand
Qualifications Authority in New Zealand in 1999 and later studied Japanese in
Tohoku Foreign Language and Tourism College in Japan from October 2000
to March 2002.

Mr. LP Chan has over 15 years of experience in procurement and
management. He commenced his career in South Wing Machinery Co. Limited
in September 2003 as a trainee. He was subsequently promoted to the post of
1, being
responsible for purchase management, inventory control, contract

purchase and sales manager from 1 April 2009 to 30 September 201
negotiations, department co-ordination and complaints handling.

Mr. LP Chan is the brother of Mr. YP Chan, and executive Director of the
Company.

Independent Non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (FR5A{2) (“Mr. Adrian Chan’), aged 43, was
appointed an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. He is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. He is responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control, corporate
governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Adrian Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales, Australia
with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting and finance in April 2000.
He became a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2006 and November 2009 respectively.

EENSATIERE
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

Mr. Adrian Chan has over 10 years of experience in the field of corporate
finance. He started his career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in
the audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March 2000. Mr. Adrian
Chan then worked in various financial institutions and investment banks,
including DBS Vickers Securities, with his last position as an executive in the
corporate finance department, from April 2000 to December 2001, DBS Asia
Capital Limited, with his last position as assistant vice president in equity
capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets from January 2002
to July 2005, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited, with his last position as
associate director, from July 2005 to November 2009. After leaving UOB Asia
(Hong Kong) in November 2009, Mr. Adrian Chan switched his career from
corporate finance to financial management. From November 2009 to June
2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro Energy International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1102.HK), where he was responsible for overall financial
management, internal control and accounting. In July 2015, Mr. Adrian Chan
was appointed the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital Investment
Corporation. In July 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial
officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics Limited and in August 2018, Mr.
Adrian Chan was appointed the chief financial officer of Lifespans Limited.

Mr. Adrian Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Cheerwin Group Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6601.HK) on 19 February 2021.
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The details of directorship held in public listed companies by Mr. Adrian Chan

are as follows:

Company name

ALk

Petromin Resources Ltd.

Petromin Resources Ltd.

Grand Baoxin Auto
Group Limited

REEEERE
BRRA

Cheerwin Group Limited

HEREARAA

Directors and Senior Management

Principal business

activities of

the company

ARNEEXKED R 5R

Petroleum and natural gas PTR.H
exploration and production

FARRARBIRREE  PTRH

Sales and service of 1293.HK
motor vehicles

AEHE KRS 1293.HK

Household care, personal 6601. HK
care and pet care
products production

RIEEE - AAEER 6601. HK
EYEBRERLE

BROAERER R

FIEAE

Stock Code Stock Exchange
HER S

Toronto Venture
Stock Exchange

%% ERE
R

Main Board of the
Stock Exchange
B AER

Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

BRAER

Position

Bfu

Director, chief financial officer

and corporate secretary

kA
PUNCIEE

Independent non-executive

director

BUFRNTES

Independent non-executive

director

BUFHTES
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

(BI9ER)
independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam ("Ms. Tsang"), aged 48, was appointed an
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. She is
responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, internal control, corporate governance and
providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tsang graduated from The University of Melbourne, Australia with a
bachelor's degree of commerce in December 1996 and a master degree in
practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November 2000.
She became a member of CPA Australia in July 2001.

Ms. Tsang has over 25 years of experience in the field of taxation. She started
her career in PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and worked with the firm
from February 1997 to March 2003, with her last position as senior consultant,
where she obtained experience in tax compliance matters. Between
November 2004 and February 2007, Ms. Tsang worked in Ross Melville PKF in
Auckland, New Zealand with her last position as tax consultant. She then
rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong as senior consultant in
February 2007 and stayed with the firm until April 2010 with her last position
as manager. Between April 2010 and April 2015, Ms. Tsang was employed by
BDO Limited with her last position as tax principal of Hong Kong tax team.
From April 2015 up to now, she has been working in a private equity real
estate investment group as vice president responsible for overseeing the tax
matters.

Ms. Tam Ho Ting (F2 A #%) (‘Ms. Tam’), aged 43, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. She is responsible for overseeing the areas with
regard to the strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control,
corporate governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 2000. In January 2008, she was
admitted an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. Ms. Tam has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009 as well as a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since October 2015
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Tam has over 20 years of work experience in the accounting and financial
work sector. Before joining our Group, Ms. Tam worked in various accounting
firms and multi-national companies. She started her career in the assurance
and business advisory department in Moores Rowland and worked there from
September 2000 to December 2002, with her last position as associate lll. From
December 2002 to March 2004, Ms. Tam worked as an assistant manager in
KPMG, Hong Kong. From April 2004 to June 2007, she worked in Hutchison
Telecommunications (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited (stock code:
215.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with her
final position as senior accountant in the finance and administration division.
From June 2007 to August 2010, Ms. Tam worked in Avery Dennison Hong
Kong, B.V., with her last position as finance manager in the production and
costing sector of the financial planning and analysis department. Ms. Tam
then worked as manager in the financial analysis department in Hasbro Far
East Limited, Hong Kong from August 2011 to August 2013. Since November
2013, Ms. Tam has provided accounting and book-keeping services to private
companies engaged in various sectors of industries in Hong Kong, including
pharmacy services and other services. In September 2018, Ms. Tam established
CT Business Services Limited which principal activity is the provision of
accounting and book-keeping services.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSATIERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert (P&
as the chief financial officer on 1 November 2018. He was later appointed the
chief operation officer and company secretary of our Group on 12 March 2019.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing overall accounting, financial

) (‘Mr. Chan"), aged 34, joined our Group

management, operation and compliance and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting) from
Macquarie University in Australia in September 2009. He further obtained a
master's degree in financial analysis from The University of New South Wales
in August 2010. Mr. Chan has been a member of CPA Australia since
December 2013. Mr. Chan has over 10 years of work experience in accounting
and finance covering a vast range of clientele including manufacturing and
food and beverage industries. From December 2010 to October 2013, Mr.
Chan worked in BDO Limited, with his last position as senior associate, where
he participated in the annual audit and special engagement of listed
companies in Hong Kong. From October 2013 to July 2018, Mr. Chan worked
in PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last position as manager in assurance
practice, where he has been involved in audits for public, sizable private and
multinational companies as well as initial public offerings.

Ms. Chen Fang (B 75) (‘Ms. Chen"), aged 50, is our financial controller and
assistant to the chief executive officer. Ms. Chen joined the finance
department of Group in September 2007. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the financial and accounting management of Kyoei Seiki.

Ms. Chen graduated from Shaanxi Labor College (Bt 78 T 38 2% ) in the PRC
in July 1998 with a diploma in computing and accounting (FF & i & 5+ =
%) and has over 10 years of experience in accounting work. Prior to joining
our Group, between January 2002 and December 2003, Ms. Chen worked in
the accounting department of Guangzhou Baili Engineering Machinery Parts

Co,, Ltd* (BMTHARE T2 #M AL 4B BR 22 a)) in Guangzhou, the PRC.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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Report of the Directors

The directors of the Company submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 26 October 2018. The
registered office of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

Pursuant to the completion of the reorganisation as detailed in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Group Structure” in the Prospectus to
rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company's shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Company became the
holding company of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. The Shares
of the Company were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 15
November 2019 through Share Offer as described in the section headed
“Structure and Conditions of the Share Offer” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFER

The aggregate net proceeds from the Share Offer (after deducting listing
related expenses borne by the Company) amounted to approximately
HKS$28.4 million. The proposed application of net proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus has been adjusted according to the principles and proposed
percentage of utilisation as specified in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. The use of proceeds from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2021 is included in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 22 to 23.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group's
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be
found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 11 to 19
of this annual report and the section headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” on page 60 of the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
In addition, discussion on Group’s environmental policies and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 65 to 102 of this annual report. The discussion forms part of this
directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in page 111

The interim dividend of HK$2.0 cents per share for the nine-month period
ended 30 September 2021 (2020: Nil) was declared and paid on 13 December
2021.

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$2.0 cents per
share (2020: Nil) in respect of the Year (the “Final Dividend"). The Final
Dividend, if approved, shall be payable on Wednesday, 6 July 2022 and is
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting on Friday, 17 June 2022. The
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on Friday, 24 June 2022 will be entitled to
the Final Dividend.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM
to be held on Friday, 17 June 2022, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 14 June 2022 to Friday, 17 June 2022 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify for entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Center, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 13 June
2022.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 23
June 2022 to Friday, 24 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares in the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for
entitlement in the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company's share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell
Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 22 June 2022.
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Report of the Directors

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of Cayman Islands
which oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DONATION

No charitable or other donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and Notes 33
and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANT RELATING TO
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Reference is made to an announcement dated 10 September 2020 issued by
the Company with regard to a facility letter (the "Previous Facility Letter")
for a trading facility (the “Previous Facility").

On 18 June 2021, the existing lender, DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (the
“Lender”), has pursuant to its periodic review agreed to replace the Previous
Facility with a revised trading facility of up to HK$10,000,000 (the “Facility”) for
Best Linking Limited (“Best Linking"), which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Best Linking and the Company, as borrower and
corporate guarantor respectively, entered into a revised banking facility letter
with the Lender (the “Facility Letter’), on the terms and conditions therein
contained, including the Lender’s right to review any time and the Lender’s
customary overriding right to demand repayment, as well as the right to call
for cash cover on demand for prospective or contingent liability.

Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Letter, among other things, during the
term of the Facility Letter, (i) Best Linking shall remain an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company; (i) the Company shall procure Mr. Chan
Yuk Pan (“Mr. YP Chan"), the controlling shareholder of the Company, to
remain as the director of the Company and Best Linking; and (iii) Mr. YP Chan
shall continue to be the single largest shareholder and hold not less than 50%
of the beneficial interest of the Company and Best Linking. As at the date of
the announcement, Mr. YP Chan’s beneficial interest in each of the Company
and Best Linking is 75%.
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Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 June 2021 for
more details.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

Biographical details of the directors are set out in pages 30 to 36 of this annual
report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each AGM,
provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and Mr. Chan Lung Pan shall retire at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Group has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors annual written confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Group considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years and shall continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Report of the Directors

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statement.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “SFO")) which are
required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Name of substantial shareholder capacity/
nature of interest

TERROME BBIDHEMEE

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan’s Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

BRISH SE AN EE R (H5E1)

Percentage of interest

Total number in our Company’s

of share(s) held issued capital
RAARE#LT

R OB BRAEZNE DL
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 A& A& 17 (L) 75%

Note 1:  Mr. YP Chan legally and beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of C Centrum
Holdings Limited (“C Centrum”) and is its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2:  The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the directors or
chief executives had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company or Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interest and short positions which he was taken or deemed
to have under provision of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was approved by written resolutions passed by its
shareholders on 21 October 2019 and became unconditional on 15 November
2019. Our directors consider the purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
reward the participants defined under the Share Option Scheme for their past
contribution to the success of the Group and to provide incentive to them to
further contribute to our Group. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized under the paragraph headed “13. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and in accordance with the
provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

1.  Purpose and Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners and service
providers of our Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group. The Board is entitled to determine and make an offer of
grant of an option to any eligible persons.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years
from the date of the grant of option.
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Report of the Directors

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the Listing Date unless the Company obtains an
approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, the Company may grant
options of up to 40,000,000 Shares (or such number of Shares as result
from a subdivision or a consolidation of such 40,000,000 Shares from
time to time) to the participants under the Share Option Scheme.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the limit being
exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of Shares of each eligible participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
all the share options granted and to be granted to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue. Any further grant of options is subject to shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with such Eligible Participants and his associates
abstaining from voting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date on which the option is
offered to an eligible participant, provided that the period from such
date shall not be more than ten years after the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or after the termination of the Share Option
Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days inclusive of
the day on which such offer was made.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option and the period
within which payments shall be made

The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of
the offer for the grant of an option is HKD1.00.

EFOHE

REBBRETETRTHROAH

1R 15 B8 AR i At 8 R AR BT A H b BB AR
MEFTEIT B REBEITHRMDEE ERT
BHBBAAFTNR EMHBEERTRNA
) 10% + MEA D T EUS IR R L EBIER
im o At - AN E AR IR AR AR AR B
& % 40,000,000 f% A% 15 (3% 3% 5 40,000,000
% A% 19 N EF AR 4B 31 A 0 12 RO 4B R AR 10 B
B)F2mE -

AR BB B AR B EMEME
PrE st 812 R W R s RAITE BT A R
TTIERE T T(E 1 A] BE B TT R AR (0 8L
B - IMERRENSBE TS HITRG
H130% ° fRIEA R BIMEM & (B
BRER S ROBRESEEEN £
R RIS LR -

BERERSETENROEELR
AEM12E AR rEERE R
A REA A /TR T A T 31T RO AR (D 48
BAGHEEE BTN BB 1% 17
BN BEREARBRRAE LR
& MERMAERSZEALREABEA
BMENRR °

ARBREIBRONEE

BRETREFGAEEEMNHARA (T
Ben—-—2EER2EEREERES
BEF+F) - B RIEERE M5
TIETTIE - W% B HRE A e L IR A A
HBRERESFE A HRBANTFH
RIB AR BIAR 1L 1R -

BRERTEALAFANRENE

BREBERENEOLARBOERES
BEFCEEXB(BRELZENER)
23

ERBERERAINNRERAEELN
EEARE

AR ARERE T ERENZLRER
KRBZAHFIAA100BTT °

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 - —ZE = — 3§ 43



7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be at such price as
determined by our Board and notified to an eligible person, and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date, which must be a
trading day, on which our Board passes a resolution approving the
making of an offer of grant of an option to an eligible participant; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of the share option.

8.  The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme
will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no
further share options shall be granted. All share options granted prior to
the expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2021
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of the Company's
directors or members of its management (Including their spouse and children
under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, or had exercise any such rights in the Company or
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction, Arrangement or Contracts
of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company was a party and in which any of the Company’s directors or
members of its management had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted in the year ended 31 December 2021 or at any time
during the year.
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Report of the Directors

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2021, so far as known by the Directors, the following
persons/entities (not being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) had
interest or short position in shares or underlying shares and debentures of
Company and its associated corporation which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as
follow:

Name of substantial

shareholder capacity Nature of interest

TERROBE BEID

C Centrum Mote ) Beneficial owner

C Centrum (D EmAA
Ms. Leung Tak Yee Mote2 Interest of Spouse
RiBfg LW [t e

Note 1:  The entire issued share capital of C Centrum is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan

Yuk Pan. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000
Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2:  Ms. Leung Tak Yee is the spouse of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan and is deemed to be interested in all

the underlying Shares that Mr. Chan Yuk Pan is interested through C Centrum by virtue of
the SFO.

Note 3:  The letter “L" denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person (other than
director or chief executive of the Company) had any interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed to the
Company , or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Percentage of interest

Total number of in our Company’s

share(s) held issued capital

RE AT S E&IT

Fris R B RAERNE 2
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 A A&7 (L) 75%
300,000,000 shares (L) 75%
300,000,000 AR 15 (L) 75%

BFE1 : CCentrum M B2 IEBITRAHREBW EEEER
Bl o Bt - BEBEESRPEEA - BREW K
A AR B F C Centrum BT 5 A #9300,000,000 A% A% 17
NEH S ©

MiaE2 . RBEELIRREWEENER REBFRBE
B - AR BN BRIEW 5 EERC Cenrum FEH 1
SEFTE RO A AR

M3 T8 L) EREERGEOITA -
BREXFEEEN RZZE=_—F+=A8

=t—H BEEMAL(RRARESEHES
TTBABBRIN) RA R B0 Sk AR BE AR 17 7
BEAREBEESKMEGRIEXVEF2R3D
BRI AR AR BB KBS RIERE 5 K
HIRIGRDIE 336 GA R R AFENELMAE

RV TP
BMIORE ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 - =& = — 4 4F 3§ 45



PURCHASE, SALES AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates is or was interested
in any business apart from the Group's business that competes or competed
or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group's
business at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no other equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out
in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. The Directors consider
that those related party transactions did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2021.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue for the year attributable to the Group’s major

customers are as follows:

Sales HE
The largest customer BAEP
Five largest customers combined AREFEE

—+

EEERE

FEEFRHAER
AEBNEBRESEEFNRENE A LT

Percentage

Bak

18%
59%

The percentage of purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers are as follows:

Purchases BB
The largest supplier A GLER
Five largest suppliers combined hAAREEEEE

AR B F B RN T A
m -

Percentage

BaL

21%
61%

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its suppliers, customers and stakeholders to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a director of the Company. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers' liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group throughout the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.
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INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, LY Capital Limited ("LY
Capital’), neither LY Capital nor any of its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or any
member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such
securities) or otherwise in relation to the Company which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules
(except for the compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and LY Capital on 27 March 2019) as at the date of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are as set out in the corporate governance report in pages 49 to 64
of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant event after the end of the reporting period and
up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoppers will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”). The Company wishes to
highlight the importance of the Board in ensuring effective leadership and
control of the Company, transparency and accountability of all aspects of
operations and that the business is conducted in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
("Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the GEM Listing Rules.
Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to the extent
applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in CG Code with
the exception of Code A.2.1 as explained under the paragraph “Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer” below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code regulating the securities transactions of
Directors and executive officers named in this annual report, on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors and relevant employees. They
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines regulating the
transactions of securities of the Company by senior management and
employees who are likely to be in possession of any inside information of the
Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which include,
inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those which may involve conflict of interests of
substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The Board
has the full support from the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company in discharging its responsibilities.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to
have at least three independent non-executive Directors who represent more
than one-third of the Board with at least one of them who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive Director (the
“INED”") a written annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) has assessed the independence of
each INED. The Company is of the view that all INEDs fulfil the relevant
independence requirement throughout the Reporting Period. Each INED will
inform the Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence.
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Corporate Governance Report

Composition
The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspective
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group.

The Board currently comprises five members, consisting of two executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive members, as equal
board members, upholds the effective exercise of independent judgment of
the Board.

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship between
the members of the Board, if any, are provided in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, the Directors have
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships with
each other.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and subject to re-election at the
annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years, which shall be renewed as
determined by the Board or the Shareholders of the Company. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated by either
party in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
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Each of the INEDs has accepted an appointment with the Company for an
initial term of one year and shall be automatically renewed for another year.
The appointment of each of the INEDs may be terminated by either party
giving at least one month written notice to the other, subject to relevant
terms of their respective appointments and the Articles.

Continuing Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive induction on the occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Group's
various governance and internal control policies. The Company also, at its
expense, arranges and provides suitable training, placing an appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The company
secretary of the Company is responsible for maintaining and updating records
for the Directors’ training sessions. Up to the date of this report, the Directors
have participated in continuous professional development by attending
courses or studying relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and relevant updates of the rules and regulations.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect of
legal action against the Directors and officers against loss or liability sustained
or incurred arising from or incidental to the execution of their duties. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis or on intervals as deemed
appropriate by the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

During the year, four regular Board meetings were held at approximately
quarterly intervals for, among others, (i) reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, including the final results for the year ended 31
December 2020, quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2021,
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and results for the nine
months ended 30 September 2021, and (ii) considering, reviewing and/or
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company.
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All individual Directors have attended the four regular quarterly Board
meetings (not including other ad hoc Board meetings held from time to time
and any other meeting(s) of members of the Board in compliance with the CG
Code), committee meetings and general meeting during the year ended 31
December 2021. Attendance includes physical attendance and attendance by
telephone and by the video conference.

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.

Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A schedule of Board meetings dates is fixed for each year in advance. At least
7 days’ formal notice of all regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The agenda and Board papers for each meeting are sent to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is responsible for
preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into account any matters
the Directors may propose to include, ensuring that all Directors are given
opportunity to include matters in the agendas and approving the agendas. To
enable the Directors to make informed decisions, agendas and accompanying
papers, together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
sent to all Directors or all committees members at least three days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors and committee
members appraised of the latest developments and/or financial position of
the Company. The Board and the individual Directors also have access to the
senior management to make further enquires or when they require further
information, in addition to those volunteered by the senior management.

The Company Secretary attended all regular Board meetings and, whenever
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on statutory
compliance, corporate governance matters and to ensure that the Company’s
policies and procedures were properly followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes recorded sufficient
details of matters considered, decisions reached, concerns raised and
dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and final versions of minutes are
circulated to the Directors for comment and records within a reasonable time
after each meeting. The final version is kept by the Company Secretary and
opened for the Directors' inspection.
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According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter which
involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a Director, are
dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at which independent
non-executive Directors having no material interest in the transaction should
be present. Any Director or any of their close associates having material
interests in the transaction or matter shall abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving such transactions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
specific aspects of the Company’'s affairs. Each Board committee was
established with defined written terms of reference setting out its authorities
and duties and requiring the Board Committees to report back to the Board
on their decisions or recommendations (unless otherwise restricted by
applicable legal or regulatory requirements). To provide transparency, the
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s and
the Stock Exchange’s websites and hard copies of the same are available to
shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of INEDs. Chairman and members
of each Board committee as at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (Chairman)*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Remuneration Committee
Ms. Tam Ho Ting (Chairman)*
Mr. Chan Lung Pan**

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Nomination Committee
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman)**
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

* Independent non-executive Director

o Executive Director

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions for the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this report. As Mr. YP Chan has been
responsible for the overall management of the Group, including strategic
planning as well as sales and business development, the Board considered
that Mr. YP Chan is the suitable candidate to continue to hold both positions.

Audit Committee

Our Company established an audit committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraphs D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. The audit
committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors; namely Mr.
Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Mr. Adrian Chan, who has appropriate
professional qualification and experience in accounting matters, was
appointed to serve as the chairman of the audit committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer
or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b)  to review the Company’s relationship with the external auditor with
reference to the work it performed, its fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and, if appropriate, removal of external auditor;

(c)  toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the Group's financial control, internal control and risk
management systems, including but not limited to adequacy of
resources available to its respective functions, staff qualifications and
experience and training programmes; and

(d)  to consider and identify risks of the Group and consider effectiveness of
the Group’s decision making processes in crisis and emergency
situations and approve major decisions affecting the Group's risk profile
or exposure.

The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee was prepared and adopted with reference to the CG Code and “A
Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2021 to review quarterly, half-yearly and final financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, effectiveness of internal audit function, the auditor’s
independence and objectivity. Full minutes of the meetings are duly kept by
the Company Secretary and draft and final versions of the same have been
sent to all committee members for comment and records, within reasonable
time afterwards in accordance with the relevant Code Provisions. The Audit
Committee also met with the Company's auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
twice during the year and recommended its re-appointment as the
Company's external auditor to the Board, which has taken no different view in
respect of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there was no
material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established a nomination committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the CG Code.
The nomination committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director: Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms. Tam and Mr. YP
Chan. Mr. YP Chan was appointed the chairman of the nomination committee.
The primary functions of our nomination committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations to the
Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement our Company’s
corporate strategy; (ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified as potential
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; (iii) to assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of
Directors and succession planning of Directors, in particular our chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship based on a number of factors,
including expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business requirements of
the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. External
recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry out the recruitment and
selection process when necessary.
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To facilitate sustainable and balanced development of the Company, the
Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy"), which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Under
the Diversity Policy, the appointment and/or recommendation for
appointment will be based on objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity of the Board, including, among others, the candidates’
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider to
set measurable objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriations and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving these objectives. Decisions of the
Nomination Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the
selected candidates. As at the date of this report, the Board characterised by
significant diversity, regardless in terms of age, gender, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee has also
adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
selection criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director.
The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include,
inter alia, his/her academic background and professional qualifications,
relevant experience in the industry, character and integrity and whether he/
she can contribute to the diversity of the Board as detailed in the Diversity
Policy. The procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director is
summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of the
Nomination Committee or the Board;

—  evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection criteria
set out in the Nomination Policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board's consideration and approval;

— in case of nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
assessing the candidate’s independence under the relevant Code
Provisions and the Listing Rules;

— where nominating an independent non-executive Director for election
at general meetings, having due consideration of matters under Code
Provision B.3.4;

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the
candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or re-
appointment of the candidate as a Director.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2021 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (i) assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and (iii) review and recommend the continuing
adoption of the Diversity Policy.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established a remuneration committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 to 5.36 of the
GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2 of the CG Code. The remuneration
committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director: Mr. LP Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Ms. Tam was
appointed chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary functions of
our remuneration committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
the overall remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and
senior management of our Group, review performance based remuneration
and ensure none of our Directors is in a position to determine his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determine the annual remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management and other related matters. The human
resources department is responsible for collection and administration of the
human resources data and proposing the remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the individual executive Director and senior
management to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee shall consider and consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these proposals.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2021 to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management, to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy for the remuneration of the Directors, assess
the performance of the executive Directors and approve the terms of their
respective service contracts.

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
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Remuneration bands

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000
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Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 15 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 10 and Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties and
determining the relevant policies of the Company, which includes formulating
and reviewing the Group's policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management, reviewing and
monitoring the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, formulating, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct, guidelines and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors, and reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board reviewed and
discussed the corporate governance policy of the Company and was satisfied
the effectiveness of its corporate governance policy. The board considered to
set Up a corporate governance committee to review the corporate
governance policy and the practices of an issuer.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and complying with other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in pages 103 to 110.

Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient explanation
and necessary information to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information tabled before the Board for
approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management to all
members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the Board as a
whole as well as each member individually by giving them balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient detail.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s internal control system to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the
Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient operation which in turn
minimizes the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or
losses.

Risk Management

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group’s business. Management is responsible for
establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and effective
internal control system underpinning the risk management framework. All
employees of the Group are committed to implement the risk management
framework into the daily operation. The system comprises the following
phases:

— ldentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

—  Analysis: Analyze the existing control, likelihood and consequence of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

— Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified the following risks and
implemented relevant risk mitigation plans, details of which are set out as
follows:

—  The sales and profitability of the Group's products are dependent on its
customers’ business performance. The Group's five largest customers
accounted for an aggregate of 59% and 64% of its revenue for the two
years ended 2021 and 2020, respectively, and if there is any decrease in
its business or if the Group fails to maintain its relationship with them or
any of them or other key customers, this could adversely affect its
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. To
diversify the business risk, the Group has been active in seeking new
markets and clients during the Reporting Period.
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—  The Group's profitability may be adversely affected by the fluctuations
of raw material prices. The raw materials the Group uses in the
manufacturing process are primarily forged rings, steel balls and
spacers, of which forged rings accounted for most of the Group's total
purchases. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total purchases
of forged rings accounted for approximately 12% of the total purchases
of raw materials for the year. The Group's forged rings are primarily
made from gear steel and carbon round steel. Nearly all of the Group's
raw materials are sourced from suppliers based in the PRC. There are
many factors which can cause fluctuation in the price of raw materials
from time to time, in particular the economic conditions in the PRC,
supply and demand of raw materials and international trade. To diversify
the business risk, the Group has been taking some proactive approaches
to unexpected change in raw material prices such as understanding the
actual production capacity and the historical record of price change.

Internal Control

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of
the Group's business. The situation will be reviewed from time to time. The
Group has engaged an external consulting firm, Infinity Concept Ripple
Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”), as the Group's internal control
adviser to conduct independent internal control review for the Year.

Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are under a rotation
basis. The scope of review was previously determined and approved by the
Board. The Internal Control Adviser has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Audit Committee and management. The Board and Audit
Committee were of the view that there was no material deficiency in the
internal control system . All recommendations from the Internal Control
Adviser are properly followed by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of insider information. The
Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in the securities of the
Company by the directors in accordance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board
and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and
other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
the Group's annual audit services and audit services for the subsidiaries of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$1,050,000,
and those in relation to non-audit service was HK$50,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert, who is an employee
of the Company, as its Company Secretary. He is a member of CPA Australia.
He confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 December 2021. The biography of Mr. Chan Ho
Chee Gilbert is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions on each and every substantial issue can be considered and
proposed to be passed by shareholders at the shareholders’ meetings
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders” meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules
and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company's website after the relevant shareholders’
meeting.

(a) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary

general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholder(s) holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition for a
EGM of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company may, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, require the
Directors to call an EGM for the transaction of businesses specified in
the requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(b) Procedures for putting forward proposals at General

Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of association,
shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may
convene an EGM in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders
to convene an EGM" set out above.
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Procedures for shareholders to send enquires to the board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board and/
or the Company Secretary by addressing them to the principle place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 1226B, 12/F, Star House,
No. 3 Salisbury Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post for the attention of
the Board and/or the Company Secretary.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy with
the objective of providing the shareholders of the Company with
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an
informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
answering questions through the AGM, the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars, the
Company'’s website at www.blg.hk and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News updates of the Group's business are also available
on the Company’s website.

Share registration matters shall be handled by the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company should have a dividend policy and
disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted a dividend
policy (the “Dividend Policy”), the summary of which is set out below:

(@

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the Group's financial conditions;

the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

the Group's retained earnings and distributable reserves;

the Group's liquidity position;

(c)

(d)
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general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group and . —MRAEA - REBRISARE
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the A RE A EEEER B RIE
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and R 2N ER RN E &

other factors that the Board may consider appropriate. . ETeRABENEMAE -

(b)  The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any (b)) ZAAFENBRETTHEFHEATER
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the A Bl 2 AF ] PR I BT AR PR o
Articles of Association of the Company.

() The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ (¢) ZBEEEHHHITURFEREEBEE @ BI&

mE

interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable Dividend R EREEANEIE 2 IS T -
Policy.

Constitutional Documents BEEXH

There has been no change in the Company's constitutional documents during  RIEHABRBEEZEARE R AR FIHER

the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report. A A7 AT AR B ER

On behalf of the Board REEZS

CHAN Yuk Pan FRERITEABE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FR A8 #2

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022 BB - _F=-—A-1+—H
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DEFINITION AND INTERPRETATION

Throughout this report, the following terms, except where the context
otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

66

Group

ESG

Appendix 20 or ESG :

Reporting Guide

GEM

Hong Kong

PRC
KPlIs

GEM Listing Rules

Stock Exchange

refers to Best Linking Group Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries

Environmental, social and governance

refers to the Appendix 20 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of
the GEM Listing Rules

GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China,
including Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and
the New Territories

The People’s Republic of China

Key Performance Indicators

The Rules Governing the Listing of Equity
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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OVERVIEW

n

(m

Purpose

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), successfully listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (‘HKEx") on 15 November
2019. In accordance with the requirements of HKEx, listed companies
are required to provide an Environmental, Social and Governance
Report ("ESG Report”). This is the third ESG Report since the listing
which mainly introduces the Group's vision, policies and measures by
establishing the key performance indicators ("KPIs"), and reports its
performance regarding environmental and social issues for internal
assessment and management control, and communicating to the
internal and external stakeholders.

Scope of Report

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing of slewing rings,
which are rotational-rolling element bearing used in large sized
machinery and equipment, such as construction machinery and
equipment, wind turbines, robotics and military equipment. We
produce our products on an Original Design Manufacturer (“ODM"),
Original Equipment Manufacturer (“OEM") and Original Brand
Manufacturer (“OBM") basis from our manufacturing facility in
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC’) (the "“Dongguan Factory’), and we are compliant with the
Japanese Industrial Standards and 1SO 9001:2015 quality standards. The
products are sold both in the PRC and overseas to general wholesalers
and distributors and to leading overseas — mostly Japanese and local
equipment manufacturers. Each business segment of the Group has a
different impact on the environment and society. For the purpose of
this report, the Group herein will review its core business activities and
operations in terms of their environmental and social objectives, policies
and practices, and their impacts and performances.

Only the Dongguan Factory has direct supply of freshwater, whereas,
the Hong Kong administrative office (the “"Hong Kong Office") is
supplied through common amenities in the leased office spaces for our
employees’ daily general hygiene needs. Besides, our Hong Kong Office
with 300 square feet do not consume much electricity and therefore
the water and electricity amount used is determined to be immaterial.
Hong Kong Office produces, emits, or discharges immaterial amounts of
polluted water, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. Therefore, this
ESG report only covers the main operations and activities of the
Dongguan Factory and the number of employees recorded in the Hong
Kong Office for the 2021 Reporting Period, unless otherwise stated.
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Basis of Preparation

This is our third ESG Report since our listing on the GEM of the HKEx and
is in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) outlined in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and Guidance
Governing the Listing of Securities on HKEx. The content of this report
includes two main subject areas, as outlined and required by the ESG
Reporting Guide, namely Area A — Environmental and Area B — Social
and further includes the disclosure of climate-change related issues,
which have or may impact our Group.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the board
of the Company (the “Board”), both reviews and reports the core
business operations and activities of the Group and follows the
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency to
disclose relevant statistics and information. The ESG Report was
compiled in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions in the
ESG Reporting Guide.

Reporting Period
This report is for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
(the “2021 Reporting Period").

Corporate Goals and Visions

The Group's vision is to be a leading manufacturer and an “one-stop
service” provider on a sustainable basis of high-quality slewing rings in
both the PRC and worldwide. We are committed to providing these
products with a reasonable return on investments to our shareholders,
whilst being a socially and environmentally responsible company and
providing a safe, healthy and pleasant working environment to our
employees.

ESG Management

Throughout the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group maintained the same
ESG management structure and process as the last reporting period
(from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, “2020" or “2020 Reporting
Period"). The Board of the Group is responsible for formulating and
setting goals and targets, approving strategic direction and policies, and
monitoring performance including ESG issues.
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Our ESG strategies, management policy and approach are based on
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the
principle of sustainability and opinions from our key stakeholders. The
Group's visions and goals, and the ESG management policy and
approach can be summarized in the following statements.

1. The Group is committed to be successful in undertaking its
business, whilst providing strong returns to our investors and
supporters, a healthy and safe working environment to our
employees and helping to provide sustainable developments for
the local communities and the Group.

2; The Board from time to time approves and updates strategies
and policies which are incorporated with the related
environmental and social issues stated in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Board has assigned each department to implement
ESG policies in accordance with the respective operations and
activities. Through their normal and routine channels, all
departments report directly to the Group's chief executive officer
("CEO"), who has the overall responsibility to ensure that the
Board's approved strategies and policies are implemented. The
departments are responsible for exploring and developing KPIs,
where appropriate and necessary, in accordance with the Group's
policies and goals.

3. It is the duty of the Group’s CEO, chief operating officer (“COO")
and his operation managers (collectively, the “"Management
Team’) to examine and address all the environmental and social
issues detailed in the aspects and areas in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

Overall, the Group takes an active role in ensuring sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operations by employing
various measures, which are compliant with relevant laws, operating
practices and standards. The Group continues to uphold our established
environmental protection and management system. The adoption and
application of the Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015), which
the Group has certified since 2008, has proven to be effective in ESG
management.
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY

The Group maintains regular contact with the internal and external
stakeholders to gauge their views and opinions regarding the Group's
operations and performance. After collecting the views and opinions, the CEO
and/or COO will carry out materiality assessments internally with the related
managers and externally with related stakeholders through various means of
communication, such as liaison groups, panel discussions, workshops, on-site
visits, company websites, emails and direct enquiry phones, etc. For 2021, the
Group and the stakeholders have identified the following material areas and
aspects:

Environmental practices and their performance;
Commitments to employees;

Recruiting, engaging and retaining talents;
Commitments to customers;

Building trusts through quality and reliability of services and products
customers;

Protecting customers privacy;
Anti-corruption prevention; and
Community support and contribution.

Through the Group's established management structure, process, policies and
guidelines as aforementioned and described, the above ESG material areas
and aspects have been strictly managed and monitored and herein are
summarized below:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS
1.1 Environmental Areas Overview
As the Group understands its obligations, we have implemented
a company-wide “Environmental Protection and Sustainability
Policy and Procedures” which aims to achieve a balance between
undertaking business, maximize returns to our shareholders,
ensuring our operations and activities minimise any adverse
impacts on the environment, and being energy, water and
resource usage efficient.
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Our “Environmental Protection and Sustainability Policy and
Procedures” is summarised below:

Purpose

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify,
evaluate and determine the significance of environmental
aspects and impacts by and on the company and ensuring
compliance with all relevant national and local environmental
laws and regulations including but not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FR £ A R AN
BlIRIBIRER);

Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment (

EARKNBRRZEFEZR),

Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (& AR
BRI Re%);

Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (R ZE
AREFBEKZSREEE);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution
from Environmental Noise (1% A R X FBIIRIER &5
2ETRE);

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Enwronmental Pollution by Solid Waste (H2E A R £ F1E
BEEYSARIIRBIAE);

Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project

Environmental Protection (Z2a% 18 H IR IBIREE IR IKH);

and

Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC (R 2 A R
HRBSRAEERER)

Procedure

(i)  The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the
environmental aspects for all work activities that are most
likely to give rise to significant environmental impacts.

(i) The Management Team shall brainstorm internally and
externally with other related parties and classify all the
relevant work activities under normal, unusual and
emergency situation as follows:

Normal is defined as a routine activity or work that is
carried out daily and is part of a process;

Unusual refers to non-routine work that occurs
under unexpected circumstances; and

Emergency refers to an occurrence of an event that
will cause a drastic impact or severity to the
environment and immediate action has to be taken.
For example: major leakage and spillage, fire, etc.
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(i)~ When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities
likely to cause environmental impact or improve general
sustainability are considered including but not limited to
the following:

Gas emissions;
Water discharge;
Waste disposal;
Land contamination;

Sustainability and the efficient use of raw materials,
energy, water and other natural resources;

Other local environmental issues; and
National and local laws and regulations.

(iv) At least once every year, the Management Team shall
review the environmental aspects. They shall also update
regularly based on new laws and regulations,
organizational work activities and processes or production
systems or equipment, and also based on updated
knowledge obtained through incidents/accidents,
organizational or other requirements.

(v)  For each environmental aspect, the Management Team
shall identify and assess the environmental impacts, and
the following shall be considered:

Global warming;

Water pollution;

Air pollution;

Waste generation;

Land/soil contamination;

Noise pollution; and

Natural resources conservation.

Environmental Aspects

The Group advocates the importance of sustainable development
in relation to our on-ongoing business operations and activities.
We have employed various measures to ensure full compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations regarding emissions,
effluent water and solid waste discharge and to ensure minimal
impact to the environment. All of our employees are made aware
of their respective roles and responsibilities in conserving energy
and natural resources and we regularly assess new production
equipment and processes and maintain compliance with Quality
Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution
and improve sustainability.
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During the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group was not subject to —E - —FREHA  AEEHRE
any confirmed cases for breaching environmental legislation in EREMEBEER N EDEESRH
relation to emissions and waste discharge or other environmental fh AT RE T B IR IBE RN B E 2R

issues that could have an adverse impact on the local IRBMERNIREER - WEILEE

environment. HAREF ©
A1: Emissions and Wastes Al BEHREY
Indirect Emissions IR HEK

Indirect emission, mainly carbon dioxide (“CO,") through
the use of electricity for our production, remains to be the
main source of greenhouse gas emissions.

In 2020, a lockdown period was imposed by the China
Government to curb the widespread pandemic of the
COVID-19. Besides, the Group implemented the “split team
arrangement”, of which part of the employees in the
Dongguan Factory was working from home and part of the
employees was working in the office, to reduce physical
interactions amongst employees and so reducing the risk
of spreading COVID-19 disease. In 2021, as the pandemic is
contained, a higher level of operating activity is recorded in
the Dongguan Factory.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, as explained in the
aforementioned “Scope of Report” section, electricity
consumption fees of the Hong Kong Office is included in
the office management fees, we therefore do not have the
consumption data for the Hong Kong Office. The table
below recorded and compared the 2021 Reporting Period
and the 2020 Reporting Period’s resultant indirect air
pollutant emissions:

Items of emissions

PR E

CO, indirect emission

— R bRk

— Dongguan Factory!” Tonnes
—REI®RO A
Intensity

Gl

— CO,/employee in Dongguan Factory

—REIB-_&ALiREE

Note 1: Emission factors for purchased electricity are based on data stated

in"2012 FR B @I EMFH —EiEERET "

AEERETELN A
([=&|ALh ) B E MR PR
NRBEREBH R EERK
R o

RZZTZZF - FEBINERR
HEEHE - LUBHICOVID-19% 18
RREEEE - o A%EE
Bl B &) BIRET
B BIERIE &5
BTHEHAEIE UL E
IT>HAMES: #mEE
COVID- 19 R EREMRAR - —
T-—F BEERBEIE
#l - WL RAE L EB e
BIE Sk o

R —FHEH - AT
[sREgE] — AT - &F
NERNREEEMNARLEE
BE  ARRMTESERS
BEHEFESUE - TR
BRITE-—FREHR=ZT =
SEREHMEANMEEZER
SAYIBERE ¢

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

441.66

5.89

2020 Changes
—T-FF L)

476.70 ~7.35%

6.36 ~7.35%

Mgkl : NEEIMHERRETIE
W20 FFHEIEEHTF
H =SB E F ] Ak
HEHE ©
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Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, despite the
increase in operations, due to the update of emission factor
of electricity, the indirect CO, emission in the Dongguan
Factory decreased slightly.

To reduce indirect CO, emissions, we have formulated a
Climate Change Strategy that will continue to improve our
energy saving practices including strictly controlling the
electricity consumption of our production facility and
investing in new production equipment and processes. We
target to lower the indirect CO, emission per employee per
year by 1-2% through the reduction of electricity
consumption per employee.

Direct emissions

During the 2021 Reporting Period, we directly produced
non-hazardous greenhouse gases (the “GHG") of CO, and
hazardous sulphur oxides (“SOy"), nitrogen oxides (“NOy")
gas, and particulate matters ("PM"), from the uses of fossil
fuels including diesel fuel, lubricating oil and liquefied
petroleum gas for forklift cars, machine tool cooling and
welding.

The table below recorded and compared the 2021
Reporting Period and the 2020 Reporting Period’s resultant
direct air pollutant emissions in the Dongguan Factory:

Items of emissions®

BERBOER @

Nitrogen Oxide (NO) Kilograms
mealm TR
Sulfur Oxides (SO) Kilograms
=t a7 T
Particulate Matter (PM) Kilograms
BT 5
CO, direct emission Kilograms
— S E R T

Tonnes
7

Note 2: Emission factors for calculations in this ESG Report were made
reference to the "How to prepare an ESG Report-Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs (version updated on 28
May 2021)" by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, unless
otherwise specified.

Note 3: As a result of our effort in improving data management, separate
calculation for stationary combustion and mobile combustion for
diesel fuel and lubricating oil was adopted since 2021 for better
comparability and performance tracking. The 2020 figure is restated
as data management improves.
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Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLEE

3.16

35,199.97

35.20

20209  Changes
—E-ETF0 25

2411 +32.59%
0.04 +33.01%
2.39 +32.52%

+33.37%

26.39 +33.37%
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Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, the increase of
non-hazardous greenhouse gases was due to the increase
in operating activity and consumption of fossil fuel during
the 2021 Reporting Period. However, we have sub-
contracted all of our logistical needs to external transport
operators and have increased the utilization of electric
driven production equipment. We have been reviewing
and planning a gradual reduction of fossil fuels in order to
reduce hazardous gas emissions by substituting electricity
or other forms of sustainable energy. For the coming year,
we target to reduce direct emissions especially those
hazardous SOy, NOy, PM, and CO, by 1-2%.

Greenhouse Gas ("“GHG") Emissions

Greenhouse gases ("GHG") include CO, and its non-
hazardous equivalents including nitrous oxide and
methane (collectively with CO,, “CO,e"). During the 2021
Reporting Period, the Group contributed 476.89 tonnes of
CO,e in the Dongguan Factory. The intensity was 6.36
CO e/employee. The breakdown of such emissions is listed
as follows:

Greenhouse Gas Emission
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Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

BERBHR

Scope 1 (COze) Tonnes
#E (ZE(ixkEE) I8
Scope 2 (CO,e) Tonnes
HE2(ZALREE) 17
Total (CO,e) Tonnes
B (ZELBER) Mg
Intensity

— CO,e/employee
——&tIREE EE

Water Pollution and Discharge

During the 2021 Reporting Period, as explained in the
aforementioned “Scope of Report” section, water
consumption fees of the Hong Kong Office is included in
the office management fees, we therefore do not have the
consumption data for the Hong Kong Office.

476.89

6.36

2020 Changes

—T-TF 25

2642 +33.37%

476.70 -7.35%

503.12 =5.21%

6.71 -521%
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Cooling water used in our production process is the main
source of the Group’s wastewater. We have adopted a
closed circulating water recycling system, so most of the
cooling water will be reused with minimal wastage.
However, under PRC laws and regulations, all excess
wastewater generation during our production process is
required to be handled by a licensed wastewater treatment
and disposal specialist. Water is also used for general living
purposes in employees’ dormitories, canteens and offices,
and will be discharged through the public sewage system.
The Group therefore does not hold any polluted water
discharge data.

Noise and Light Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise and light pollution
to the surrounding neighbors as our business operations
and activities are conducted inside our factory and offices,
with a tailor-made building structure. Within our factory
operation, in certain parts of the operation, noise is
generated, but the extent is far below national and industry
standard limits. To be cautious and to protect our workers,
it is compulsory that protective equipment is worn at all
times during production activities. During the 2021
Reporting Period, no complaints nor warning notices were
received.

Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Wastes

The Group has developed a natural and pollution-free
philosophy in its business where possible and has adopted
the 3-R principle — to reduce, reuse and recycle. All
employees are constantly reminded to adopt the 3-R
principle in their handling and use of resources.
Consideration is given to recycle and reuse in the various
processes and stages of production. Procedures are in
place for properly sorting out and storing the unused
materials for resale or reuse. For example, in respect of the
scrap metal produced from our production process, firstly,
through new and improved production processes, we
reduced the amount of scrap material produced, and
secondly, scraps are not wasted and are recycled by being
sold to approved scrap metal recyclers on a regular basis.
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The amount of hazardous wastes generated from our
manufacturing operations is insignificant and poses no
material impact to the environment.

Non-hazardous wastes are generated from both
production operations and non-production operations.
Non-hazardous wastes generated from the production
processes are mainly packaging materials — namely affixed
labels, plastic film and kraft paper. An insignificant amount
of non-hazardous materials is also generated from non-
production areas, such as supporting offices, dormitories
and canteens. All such wastes are collected and disposed
of by external waste collectors. The amount of non-
hazardous wastes is stated in Section A2(iii).

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

As analyzed above, the Group does not generate much
hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and discharges.
However, as a responsible corporation, we are conscious of
the effects our operations and activities may have on the
environment and constantly work on maximizing energy
efficiency and minimizing emissions, wastes generation,
disposal and discharges. We fully comply with all applicable
environmental laws, rules and regulations and industrial
standards in the markets we operate in. We comply with
Quality Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to
reduce pollution and improve sustainability.

To combat global warming and to reduce the generation
of GHG emissions and pollutants, we target to reduce our
electricity consumption, and have introduced measures to
achieve it. For example, we have instructed our staff and
workers to turn off electricity when our factory and office
equipment are not in use, to use natural ventilation to
replace air-conditioning in allowable conditions, and not to
set all air-conditioners’ temperature setting to lower than
25°C under normal conditions. The Group has also invested
in energy saving tools and equipment such as energy-
saving copiers and computers installed LED lights,
encouraged employees to use teleconferencing to reduce
their travels and to use public transport whenever possible.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, same as the 2020
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any violation
related to hazardous or non-hazardous air emissions and
wastes disposal, polluted water discharges and we are
determined to take all necessary measures to achieve the
same results for the coming years.
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Use of Resources

As an industrial operation, we consume electricity, water,
printing paper and ink, packaging materials, and steel. We
promote the company-wide goal to saving resources and
have implemented various measures to improve our
resource saving performance, to minimize the impact to
the environment and achieve operational optimization
while complying with the relevant national and local laws
and regulations. We have approved and implemented clear
environmental policies and measures with the target to
have an efficient use of resources for production facilities
and processes, office administration, and the general use of
our employees without causing pollution whilst saving
resources. Our use of electricity, fossil fuels, water, printing
papers and steel for 2021 were recorded as per below:

(i) Electricity, Gas & Fuel Consumption

Electricity is the only source of energy for our
industrial production and our offices and dormitories
operations and activities and is supplied by the local
electricity grid. For 2021, the Group also used fossil
fuels, namely 168 cubic meters (“m3”) of gas and 9.61
tonnes of diesel and lubricating oil, mainly for
forklifts, machine tools cooling, and welding in the
Dongguan Factory (For 2020: 88 m?® of gas and 7.26
tonnes of diesel and lubricating oil). The table below
recorded and compared the 2021 Reporting Period
and the 2020 Reporting Period'’s resultant energy
consumption in the Dongguan Factory:

Energy Consumption

RETRH ¥
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— Electricity
==
&,

— Gas

— KR

— Diesel and lubricating oil

— JHQ/EE &/FEJ/H /EE

Total
st

Consumption (kWh)
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee)
ZE(TEE 1EE)
Consumption (m?)
HFEE (LT7K)
Consumption (kWh)
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee)
ZE(TEE &8
Consumption (Tonnes)
SHFEE (B)
Consumption (kWh)
HEE (TR
Intensity (kWh/employee)
ZE(TEE 1EE)
Consumption (kWh)
HEE(TREE)

SEERABRAF]

2 BRFHA

837,906.00
11,172.08
168.00
8,270.11
110.27
9.61
140,324.26

1,870.99
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2020 Changes
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57.76 +90.91%
7.26 +32.30%
106,068.20 +32.30%
1,414.24 +32.30%
795,407.16 +24.02%

986,500.37
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Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, the usage
of electricity increased by 22.32% due to the increase
in of operations.

Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, there is also
an increase in the gas and fuel usage in the
Dongguan Factory of approximately 90.91% and
32.30% respectively, due to the increase in
operations and one-off demolition work has been
carried out during the 2021 Reporting Period which
increase the fossil fuels consumption. For the coming
years, we have already planned to gradually replace
fossil fuels by electricity or other forms of sustainable
energy in order to reduce the generation of
hazardous gases emissions as explained previously.

For the coming year, we will continue to encourage
and monitor our employees on energy saving
practices, and target to lower the energy
consumption by 1-2%.

The Group recognises that investing in energy
efficiency initiatives helps us to minimise our
environmental impacts while also reducing costs.
Our production facilities and accompanying
dormitories are powered by a consistent and
sufficient supply of electricity, which is supplied by
the local electricity grid. To save energy, which also
saves costs, we have installed energy saving LED
lights and control meters and invested in the latest
energy efficient production equipment and
processes. The Group has promulgated rules and
encouraged staff and workers to use resources
efficiently and environmentally friendly including:

Lights and equipment must be turned off if
not in use;

Maintaining work environments at pre-
determined and energy efficient temperatures;
and

Encouraging the use of natural ventilation
instead of air-conditioning whenever the
conditions allow.
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(i)

Freshwater Consumption and Sourcing

For water, the main consumption comes from the
production process in cooling hot metal. Water is
also used in the employee’ dormitory for their
personal use. Our factory, offices and dormitories all
use freshwater supplied from the cities’ central water
supply network and we do not have any problem on
sourcing of our water needs.

At all times we request the staff and workers to use
fresh water smartly and be responsible, as it is one of
the most precious natural resources. We utilize
internal water recycling systems where possible and
we monitor water usage patterns constantly via the
use of smart meters and our own inspection teams
who have been assigned to ensure there is no
unwarranted uses and waste.

The table below recorded and compared the 2021
Reporting Period and the 2020 Reporting Period’s
resultant water consumption in the Dongguan
Factory:

(ii)

R FER FREE

FRKEEXERB LA
BEBNEERRF 8
TEENEREARE
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KT8 & IE F P BE
2 R RPKEEE e
BR K - IR R K
BRI A

KKRIFEEEMNB A
BIR - AR MEZE
SRKETIRTIABERER
BEMER - RAEA
BER A BB R KTEIR
7o BEBEEKER
2B/ NMEFFEERAKX
B AR/ MEERE
AT (R 1 48 JF 04 2 FE K
FORE e

TREHEMER -Z
T FRERR T
TEREPERZTTR
EERNREKE

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

Water Consumption

by Operation 2021
BREES D HNFEKE —E-—F
— Dongguan Factory m? 11,150
—REIK F R

Intensity

HE

— m?*/employee in Dongguan Factory 148.67
—REIRTEN EE

We use freshwater for industrial production and
offices and dormitories for daily usage purposes.
Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, the Group
recorded an increase of approximately 128.48% due
to the newly installed water-cooled air conditioning
system and water circulation system.

For the coming year, we will continue to mobilize
our staff and workers to save freshwater
consumption, nevertheless continue to expand our
operations, and target a water consumption to
reduce 1-2% freshwater consumption.
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2020 Changes
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Paper and Packaging Materials and Other Raw
Materials Consumption

We consider our use of packaging materials, namely
affixed labels, plastic film and kraft paper, to be a
material item.

The table below recorded and compared the 2021
Reporting Period and the 2020 Reporting Period’s
resultant non-hazardous waste in the Dongguan
Factory:

Non-Hazardous Waste

EmEREY

— Paper Tonnes

— &R L7

— Packaging Material Tonnes
KWE WA

Total Tonnes

At L}

Compared to the 2020 Reporting Period, the
significant decrease of the non-hazardous waste was
due to the effort to encourage employees to use
paper efficiently during the 2021 Reporting Period,
resulting in very low paper wastes during the period.
Furthermore, the Group has reevaluated our
packaging needs for our products to eliminate
unnecessary packaging, resulting in a very low
packaging material consumption during the period.

The amount of packaging material used is largely
dictated by our sales volume and so we are unable
to target any serious reduction in packaging
materials. We will continue to monitor our usage and
look at ways to introduce more sustainable and
environmentally friending materials where possible.

{i.” Bihﬁ\zx¥&tz
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Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2020 Changes
—EF 25
0.00 0.04 -95.00%
0.07 013 —45.66%
0.07 0.17 -58.11%
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A3:

We consider our office paper use immaterial,
however, to save paper consumption, we have
implemented or in the process of implementing the
following measures in our offices:

Avoid unnecessary printing and print on both
sides;

Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelopes and folders;

Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats; and

Adopt a company-wide cloud based working
environment including ERP system to reduce
the need for printed documentation.

As explained before, during our production process,
we use a lot of steel metal, and generate metal
scraps. The use of steel is in direct proportion to our
business turnover. The generation of metal scrap can
be reduced through new and improved production
processes and we have continuously monitored and
implemented these in trying to achieve such
reductions. At the same time, we do not waste any
scrap metal as they are stored in a designed place in
the factory and then sold to approved scrap metal
recyclers.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s business operations and activities do not
create significant environmental impact and hazards. As a
responsible corporation, we have implemented our
environmental protection policy and have complied with
all national and local environmental laws, rules and
regulations, and industry standards. We are committed to
conserving resources in order to reduce its impact on the
environment as well as saving operational costs. We
cooperate with the local government agencies and
support environmental organizations’ activities to build a
“green” society. The Group has also implemented green
purchasing practices and best practice technologies to
conserve natural resources where applicable.
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During the 2021 Reporting Period, freshwater, fossil fuels,
electricity and paper-based packaging materials for normal
production operation were the key elements which were
considered to have an impact on the environment. We
have continued to support all measures to reduce, reuse,
recycle, and replace as far as possible and practicable as
laid down in our Environmental Policy and Measures. The
Group did not receive any warning or complaint notice
from any governmental environmental agencies, clients or
business partners for the violation of any environmental
rules and regulations, the act of polluting the environment
or causing any environmental troubles. For the coming
year, we will continue to achieve zero complaints and no
pollution occurrences, and to explore new avenues and
means to accomplish our goals of conserving natural
resources and protecting the environment.

Climate Change

The Group understands that stakeholders expect us to be
managing and mitigating climate change risks in line with
local and global commitments and recommendations. We
recognise that the impacts of climate change are varied
and long-ranging and the risks identified could prevent us
from meeting our strategic objectives and could result in
adverse operational, compliance and financial impacts.
Thus, climate change risks are considered by our Board to
be material risks and oversight is given to the Audit and
Risk Committee who is developing an overarching Climate
Change Strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions with
policies and procedures to manage such potential risks
including:

Potential disruption to our operations due to
extreme weather events and changing weather
patterns;

Changing customer behaviours and requirements as
demand moves to other new machinery and
equipment such as wind turbines;

Changes in cost and availability of raw materials
(carbon neutral steel etc) and utilities such as
renewable electricity, water and gas and relevant
costs of securing and maintaining sufficient supply;
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Changes to government policy, law and regulation
(including pricing carbon, renewable electricity
pricing etc), which could result in increased
operational costs and potential for litigation; and

Failure to meet expectations of stakeholders.

Climate change is mainly caused by the release of CO, into
the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the result
of the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation and fuels
for transportation. As the world transitions to a lower-
carbon sustainable economy, there are inevitable areas
that our Group can contribute to this. After discussions
with our stakeholders, we have identified energy, water
and logistics as immediate areas that we can tackle to both
combat climate change and reduce potential costs in the
future.

Energy

During the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group generated
direct and indirect greenhouse gas — CO, emissions,
through the uses of fossil fuels electricity. As explained
previously, we have implemented policies and procedures
to reduce the use of fossil fuels as well as electricity across
our organization and we will continue to invest in new
more energy efficient manufacturing equipment and
processes in the near future. We are currently investigating
the cost-benefit of partial self-generation of renewable
energy via solar panel installation etc.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by our
employees in their dormitories. The Group has taken
measures to encourage employees to more efficiently use
water in order to reduce its consumption. We already utilise
recycled water treatment systems in our production
facilities so as to minimise water wastage.

Logistics

In line with our Climate Change Strategy, the carbon
footprint and sustainability of suppliers is an important
consideration and we are actively seeking logistics partners
that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents to minimize
their own carbon footprint where possible.
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For the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group’s business
operations and activities, except for the above three
aspects, did not lead to any events or issues that might
impact the climate or result in the change of the climate
significantly. The Group also has already taken measures to
lower indirect CO, emissions and freshwater consumption
for the coming year.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and aims
to support the building of a harmonious society and a mutually
beneficial relationship with our stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers, professional services providers,
local communities as well as the governing authorities. During
the formulation and implementation of our ESG strategies,
policies, rules and regulations, we incorporate our long and short-
term goals with consideration for our stakeholders and society.
We believe that our modest acts will ultimately benefit the
stakeholders and general society.

1.1

1.2

Employment and Labour Practices Aspects

B1:

Employment

The Group strives to create a workplace which makes each
employee feel valued and inspire to do their best and at all
times regard our employees as valuable assets for our
sustained development and growth. It is our policy to
strictly comply with all the relevant statutory requirements
in the Labour Law of the PRC (F1 2 A R X F B &5 8))%)
and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, and
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the
employment and the relevant policies, which are clearly
laid out in our Employee Handbook, including but not
limited to, appointment, termination, working hours, rest
days, statutory holidays, remunerations, various
compensations, dismissals, health, general safety and other
benefits and welfares.

The Group is committed to providing employees with
equal opportunity on recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits as specified in the relevant
statutory provisions. To ensure a fair and rational human
resources structure, the Group has established job
qualifications and requirements specific to each job
position in the local offices. They are taken as criteria for
recruitment, promotion and transfer. The recruitment and
decision-making processes involve both the relevant
operational levels and the Human Resources Department.
All employees enter into proper and standard employment
contracts between the Group as required by law.
Employment of child labor and forced labor is expressly
and strictly forbidden.
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In accordance with the requirements of the national laws
of the PRC such as Social Insurance Law of the PRC (FH
AR FEMBIALRERE), the Administrative Regulations
on Housing Provident Funds (£ 5 A & € & 2 {§) and
local Employment and Labour Law of Hong Kong, the
Group provides and maintains statutory benefits to all
qualified staff, including but not limited to mandatory
provident fund, social security insurance, medical
insurance, work injury insurance and compensation and
statutory holidays.

Employees’ remunerations are determined with reference
to the prevailing market level in line with their competency,
qualifications, experience and job position. Discretionary
bonuses of such amounts and at such intervals for internal
employees will be rewarded at the discretion of the top
management with consideration on performance.

Employment of the Group:
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had the
following employment breakdown:
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BRG] ) F BB SO R IA
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Figure 1: Number of Employees by Gender
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Figure 3: Number of Employees by Role
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Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region
B g 5 mES 2 H
During the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group did not have —E - —FREHRA - BEE
any incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and EEMBEAREEBKEANY
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group £ FlEmEREER  BER
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and B TERE - (KRB -
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, FE#KE - Lok - RIBRMN
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and REMENBEEELETE
welfare. We are confident that the Group will achieve the B TEREN - BfIEEAE
same result for the coming year. B REHE AT ESHARIKR ©
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Employment Turnover of the Group: REEESTXIER -
For the 2021 Reporting Period, a total of 50 employees RZEBE-—FREH 44
voluntarily left for various reasons such as personal and 50% 18 B A B th 20 & A = &
further career development. A breakdown of the hEEERNIER B DB -
employment turnover rates of the Group are broken down EERAEMRAMALOT
as follows:

Male 66%

B

Female
47%
gk

Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender
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Under 30
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31-40

41-50 | 0.00%

51-60 | 0.00%

Over 60 0.00%
60LA_E

Figure 7: Employment Turnover Rate by Age
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Managerial 18%
EEAE
Figure 8: Employment Turnover Rate by Role
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Dongguan Factory 64%
RETHR
Hong Kong Office 20%
BARER
Figure 9: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region
B/ - izl 2 5 691 S K IE 0
B2: Health and Safety B2: RBERZE
Given the nature of the Group's business in metal products AEBEBME AEESBR
related manufacturing, and being a responsible employer, ESR BA—XREaEEMND
the Group considers the health and safety of employees as ¥ ANAEBESEIREN
our primary concern. We are focused on personal ZRIREEER - HMEE
accountability, proactive hazard and incident management, EABE  BEOEEREW
risk mitigation and creating a positive health and wellbeing EIR - BRERRREETFER
culture. 2B AL XL ©
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The Work Safety Law of the PRC (P2 A R X FBI L 2 4
EEJ%) is the overriding law regulating health and safety of
employees in our operations. However, leadership and
culture are critical to embedding the importance of health
and safety throughout our Group. Department managers
and all employees are required to complete training to
understand the practicalities of health and safety laws and
regulations, and how they apply to our business particularly
manufacturing practices. Specific safety rules, instructions
and procedures for the safe operation of plants and
employee safety are detailed in our Employee Handbook.
The Safety Officer is responsible for the work safety and has
composed a Safety Manual, which contains the relevant
regulations and standards and developed processes
applicable to our manufacturing operations.

All employees are required to strictly observe the health
and safety policies, instructions and guidance and to follow
the same at work and to place safety as their priority over
production. Managers and supervisors are charged with
the responsibility of ensuring that safety policies, rules and
practices are observed. The Group has also taken out the
required insurance for all employees in accordance with
the statutory requirements of their employment locations.

The Group has equipped its production facilities with all
the required safety equipment and facilities. We regularly
purchase and ensure that all employees, at all times, have
available and wear their labour safety equipment, such as
safety helmets, gloves, and goggles. We also regularly
conduct safety inspections and tests across all levels of our
production facilities and manufacturing process. For
example, we annually carry out the inspection and testing
of heavy machineries to ensure we have satisfied our duty
to comply with provisions concerning the Safety
Supervision of Lifting Machinery ({8 B4 % 2 B2 2245 7F).
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In-house rules require all injuries or accidents to be
promptly reported and properly dealt with in accordance
with the national or local laws. In parallel, remedial or
compensatory actions arising from safety and health issues
or work injuries are required to be taken immediately
where necessary as stipulated by the in-house rules. The
Group did not have any record on any claim disputes on
compensation or work-related injury investigation by the
government officials in the 2021 Reporting Period.

The Group had zero work-related fatalities in the past three
years including the 2021 Reporting Period in any of our
operations. Furthermore, during the 2021 Reporting Period,
there was 1 light injury case of the factory worker from
careless work (For 2020 Reporting Period: 3 cases).

A total of 18 lost days were recorded during the 2021
Reporting Period, which was 44 days less than the 2020
Reporting Period (For 2020 Reporting Period: 62 days). All
of the injured employees had been well-taken care
immediately after the occurrence with no disputes or
claims arising thereafter. Furthermore, there were no other
accidents or incidents of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards which could have significant impact on the
production operations or businesses of the Group. Our low
injury rate shows that our safety and health policies and
measures including training are effectively implemented
and adhered to. The Group targets to achieve a zero injury
and causality result for the coming year.
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Development and Training

As a professional organisation, we provide our employees
with numerous career development and job-specific
training opportunities covering a range of areas, including
but not limited to professional development, trade skills,
quality improvement, customer service, leadership and
safety. Employees are encouraged to engage in self-
development by taking external training programs and
seminars.

Below is the breakdown stating the percentage of
employees trained during the 2021 Reporting Period and
the 2020 Reporting Period by gender and operational role:

Training (No. of employees)

BI(ETAR)

Percentage of employees trained 2021
FZIEI & T LA —E-—F
2020
—T_TH
Male 2021
B —E-—F
2020
—BTF
Female 2021
7 —E-—F
2020
—EEF
Managerial 2021
BEEAB —E-—%F
2020
—E_THF
Operational 2021
EBAE —E-—F
2020
—B_TF
General 2021
EREAB B
2020
—ZE-THF

B3 :

BERIE
BIERBZ B AB TR
ZIER R RETERE B AL
rEE - ARREZ(EE
i BIEETRR: E%%
B -BSHE mERE &
ﬁ%%‘%gﬁﬁ&ﬁiﬁ°
LA BN B T2 oM EBIEFIET
SIRAFE - FEULIREE A
E °

TRAR-F-_—FHEHMR
T TEREPRMERIRE
BRI DNZIETAHDEL
AR 4 :

Internal External
AF SR
94% 7%

300% 85%
69% 67%
69% 25%
31% 33%
31% 75%
20% 17%
13% 100%
80% 83%
87% =
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Below is the breakdown stating the hours of training TRAERZZE-_—FREHAK
provided during the 2021 Reporting Period and the 2020 —ECTEREEIRER R E
Reporting Period by gender and operational role: TR B B P HR 45 5 B 2K
AR 4 :
Average training hours per employee® Internal External
BEETFHEINE@ AR IhEB
Total average training hours per employee 2021 3.00 4.89
BEETRTHYEINE —B-—F
2020 3.00 0.85
—TEF
Average training hours for male 2021 4.25 7.25
BTG —B-—fF
2020 4.25 0.15
—B-FF
Average training hours for female 2021 0.94 1.00
TGN R —E-—F
2020 6.50 2.55
—EIERF
Average training hours for managerial staffs 2021 3.86 8.73
EEABFHYEIN N —B-—F
2020 6.15 246
2o
Average training hours for operational staffs 2021 - -
EBABETIGEINE —B--F
2020 = =
i
Average training hours for general staffs 2021 2.70 3.56
BB AR TFIGEINE —B-—F
2020 4.55 =
2o
Note 4: Since 2021, we started reporting the average training hours for Mizt4: BZT-—F RMRBR
employees calculation for better comparability and performance HEIMFEINREETE
tracking. For comparability, the 2020 figure is also restated. LAR i AT o it e B AR ER Bt o 7%
BAL M - BPINES T
TEHF
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Labor Standards

The Group adopts the statutory requirements and
standards applicable to our business operations to be our
minimum labor standard on labor protection and welfare.
The Group is committed to ensuring its full compliance
and all management and supervisory levels are made
aware of this.

Banning the employment of child labor, illegal workers and
forced labor is achieved through the recruitment and
employment process at source by the Human Resources
Department. All job applicants are required to submit their
credentials such as academic qualifications, professional
skill certificates, references and identity card for verification
and record purpose during recruitment. Such information
is kept as the employee’s personal file for record and future
reference and government inspection.

The Head of the Human Resources Department and the
heads of relevant department are charged with the duty of
overseeing its compliance and are also responsible for
ensuring that all labor protection and welfare obligations
are complied with and any breaches of statutory
compliance are brought to the attention of the senior
levels.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, no case of any child
labor or forced labor employment was reported or
detected. For the coming year, we will continue
maintaining our zero tolerance to forced and child labour.
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B5: Supply Chain Management
During the 2021 Reporting Period, owing to the special
nature of our raw materials, we only sourced raw materials
from 8 local suppliers and no raw materials were sourced
from overseas.
-
6
o
6

it

Overseas
NSE
- 2021
Total —E-
At 2020
—E_TF

Figure 10: Number of Suppliers by Geographical Location
B+ - &l )5 e R EE B A

926

The Procurement Department is responsible for the
procurement of raw materials. It also manages the
procurement price, cost and supplier based on the
company’s development plan and sales targets, and to
keep enough inventories to meet customer requirements.

The principal raw materials that we use for the
manufacturing of slewing rings include forged rings
(primarily made from gear steel and carbon round steel),
steel balls and spacers. Our suppliers of raw materials are
located in the PRC. We do not enter into any long-term
supply agreements with our suppliers. We procure our raw
materials by individual sales orders on a case by case basis
and the selling price and quantity of the raw materials
required is negotiated on a case by case basis as and when
we require the materials to meet a new sales order.

The Group has, in place, a very detailed supply and
purchase management system adopting different approval
authorities at different hierarchy levels of the Management
Team depending upon the department and the types of
purchase transactions they enter into.
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In general, the Purchase Manager, Chief Financial Officer,
COO and CEO form the execution and supervision
purchase chain at different monetary levels. Each level is
accountable to the one above on their monetary limits
they are authorized to purchase. Purchasers are required
not to place an order when the authorization cannot meet
its designated level. The approving level is required to
ensure that requests for purchase are in order before
authorizing.

All purchases of the Group in principle follow the
established prevalent trade practice and industry norms
under which 3 tenderers (where possible) or more will be
invited for tender depending on various factors like
contract value, amount involved, any other technicality and
time constraints. All purchase transactions are subject to
the scrutiny of internal hierarchy supervisions at different
levels depending on its contract value and significance and
to the overall scrutiny of external independent audit
checks. All capital expenditure purchases have to be
authorized and approved by the headquarters.

Specificity, timeliness, quantity and quality are the major
selection criteria suppliers. Sustainability and our carbon
footprint are also considered in our selection process.
Technical standards agreements covering chemical
composition, mechanical performance etc. are typically
entered into with suppliers of raw materials particularly
forged rings.
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Product Responsibilities

Product Quality

We are focused on high quality assurance as we believe
that the quality and consistency of our products are critical
to our ability to retain our customers and to expand market
share. We not only maintain ISO 9001:2008/15 quality
management system(s) which the group has been certified
since 2008, but also comply with some of the highest
international standards as required by our Japanese
customers including the JIS, JB and JB/T standards in Japan.
To maintain our competitive edge and continuously
improve quality and sustainability, we are also committed
to investing in increasing our production capabilities with
new high-end plants and equipment and automation
technologies. For example, new machines are equipped
with thermostats which ensure the temperature is
consistent and help to reduce cracking of slewing rings
and product failure rate. By working closely with our
customers, we are able to keep abreast of the latest
product development and knowledge.

The major parts of our quality assurance procedures and
processes are:

Our quality assurance team inspects the incoming
materials to ensure they are in line with our purchase
order, such as the quantity, specifications, serial
number, material, dimension and the physical
condition. We will also check the test report provided
by our supplier. For forged rings, we also check the
serial number marked or imprinted on them to
ensure that the material supplied is correct.

On a sampling basis, we will take measurement of,
and conduct visual inspection on our forged rings to
see if there are any defects on their surface.

On a sampling basis, we arrange for independent
services providers to check the chemical
composition of our incoming raw materials. This is to
make sure that the chemical composition conforms
to our specifications set forth in our purchase order.
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For the steel balls, our inspection team regularly
inspects their sphericity and hardness on a sampling
basis. We return substandard raw materials to
suppliers if they do not pass our inspection.

Upon completion of the manufacturing process, our
quality assurance department will conduct final
quality assurance test on the products, which
includes measuring the assembly clearance and
whether the outer and inner rings can rotate
smoothly.

In order to ensure that our heat treatment is carried
out properly and up to the standard required by our
customers, we take samples from the finished
products for tests and dissect them to perform
various tests on their precision and accuracy and
other quality requirements.

We conduct quality testing on all finished products
to ensure that they comply with our customers’
specifications

Our general warranty policy is to provide a warranty period
of 1,500-3,000 hours of operation or one to two years
(whichever occurs first), and we will not be liable if the
warranty period has expired. If, during the warranty period,
our products are found substandard, we will be liable to
indemnify our customers of their acquisition costs of the
product, and in some instances of the repairing costs and
other disbursements.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, heat treatment for the
entire work-in-progress was conducted with the average
passing rate being approximately 99%. Due to the very
specific nature of our products and the requirements for
near perfect quality assurance, the Group did not receive
any quality complaints or claims against our products. In
the coming year, we will continue to stringently control to
ensure our near perfect product quality.
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Handling of Complaints

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that all
customer complaints or concerns are addressed to at the
appropriate levels in a timely manner. In our sales contracts,
there are clear clauses specifying our responsibilities under
quality issues. The Sales Department is responsible for
handling all sales complaint issues. Standing arrangements
are also in place for an independent third party to
adjudicate on any unresolved disputes between the Sales
Department and the client. Consequential remedial actions
will be taken promptly and in a responsible manner. During
the 2021 Reporting Period, we did not receive any quality
complaints or claims against our products.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group, up to the end of the 2021 Reporting Period, has
built up a portfolio of intellectual property rights including
21 patents registered in the PRC that are material to our
business as well as 25 trademarks registered in the PRC
and/or Hong Kong.

We primarily rely on trademark and intellectual property
laws, and confidentiality agreements with our senior
employees, to protect all intellectual property relating to
the Group and operations. We purchase and utilise fully
licensed software in our operations.

For the 2021 Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
of any infringement of its or any other intellectual property
rights including which had or could have a material
adverse effect on our business, and there were no legal
proceedings against the Group. We will continue to
maintain similar results on intellectual property rights in
the coming years ahead.
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Privacy

The Group’s main business and operation has generated a
substantial volume of private, confidential and sensitive
information of customers, suppliers, business partners
including the operation status and financial positions,
commercial terms of contracts, general background
information, patented production technology, etc. These
types of information are extremely sensitive and important,
and by law, have to be cautiously safeguarded and
protected. The Group fully understands its obligation and
has taken measures to ensure strictest protection of the
information against unauthorized access, use and
disclosure through a variety of security technologies and
procedures.

The Group fully abides by all relevant laws and regulations
regarding privacy and utilization of data. Our employees
have been trained to handle the sensitive information
during the course of business with due care. The Group has
incorporated the Confidential Clause into the Staff
Handbook and Employment Contract, under which all
employees are obligated to follow.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, same as the 2020
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any incidents of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to
advertising, labelling and privacy matters. We also target
the same result for the coming years ahead.

Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity and fairness in our business operations and has
therefore put in place an anti-corruption policy. All
employees are required to declare any conflicts of interests
in the execution of their roles and duties. Through the
establishment of these rules and regulations, the Group
encourages all employees to discharge their duties with
integrity and comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.
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Transactions in large monetary sums are processed
through bank transactions which require authorized
signatories of the appropriate levels depending on the
amount involved. Checks and balances have been installed
in the Group for money transaction activities and are
considered effective and adequate.

During the 2021 Reporting Period, same as the 2020
Reporting Period, the Group recorded no bribery nor
corruption charges and is confident to achieve a similar
result for the coming years ahead.

Community Investment

The Group fully understands our social obligations and the
need for re-contributing to the society. Through the day-
to-day contact with various local government officials and
industry leaders, the Group continues to explore and
examine what and how the Group can contribute more
and in a better way to the local community and society.
The Group encourages and supports our staff and workers
to participate in voluntary social welfare works such as to
give paid leave for such activities.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 117 to 178, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report

T8 N 12 BUAM R S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor's Report
Y& 3 % BURD 3R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BREETEE®)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to provision for slow — FRFIEEPH RO BRESSZTE L R AHETF
moving inventories. BRE -

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RMNBHNAEERARETSH

MRETER

Provision for slow moving inventories

T ERE

Refer to notes 2.19 and 4(a) to the consolidated financial ~ Our procedures in relation to management’s provision for slow
statements for the disclosures of the related accounting policies,  moving inventories include:

judgements and estimates. BMEREESHTFERBNREF R

ERAEBEITEER - HE G FREREVBRERN
5F2.19 K 4(a) °

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of Group's
inventories amounted to HK$25,575,000 after considering the
provision for slow moving inventories of HK$360,000. Inventories,
comprising slewing rings, are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in the consolidated balance sheet.
RZBZ—F+_A=+—B R RFHEHFERE
360,000 8 L& © AN ERE M EREE S 255750008 7T © 17
B (BEEE S R) WNre BE A BRI RER #IRFE
ZBIREFE -

Management determined the provision for slow moving
inventories at each period end. The identification of slow moving
inventories requires the use of significant judgements and key
assumptions which takes into consideration historical sales
patterns, ageing and expectations for future sales orders. Such
judgement is subject to uncertainties as a result of changes in
market trends and customer demands.
ERENSHRECRETFERE FHFENZENFTE
ERAERAE RARRRE  MEDFRABATHERR - &
BREEHARRIEETENTAR - ZFHEXTIEBEREP
SROBDIEROTREEHELE -

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal controls and assessment process of provision for
slow moving inventories and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors;

BT REEBH N F T G R R A BB R E
R - WRBE B AT T ML E M EARR
BHEWIZE - SHEERERNEFRR

We evaluated and tested key controls by which
management identified slow moving inventories and
determined the inventory provisions;

BARE MR E BRI HTFEREEFER
eV RASE B i

We performed retrospective review to evaluate the
outcome of prior period assessment on provision for
slow moving inventories to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;

BAPIVE L BB IR SRAT (4 8517 B B R B 1 B
BRHEER - LT EERENEFIRIZR A A5

We tested the accuracy of the inventory ageing report
on a sample basis by tracing to purchase invoices and
delivery documents;
BAEREMRBERZRINXAMEAATER
e E R R

We enquired with management about their business
plans and reviewed historical sales patterns to
understand and assess the expected life cycle of
inventories;
BARAEEEEARSNEBREMEERBEH
ERIAT @ RFHEEE G A E A FHBEE
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Independent Auditor's Report
Y& N7 %7 LR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FEETEE %)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HARESEE RANETNMEERRETSE

Provision for slow moving inventories (Continued)

FHEERE(E)

We focused on this area because inventories is a material balance - For slow moving inventories where management
and judgements are involved in estimating the provision for considered provision is not required as they are
inventories, which is subject to a significant estimation supported by sales forecast prepared based on historical
uncertainty and could result in financial impact on the sales pattern, we analysed, on a sample basis, the
consolidated financial statements. reasonableness of management's forecast by comparing
BMERBEINEEARTE ARG FERERETS the expected sales volume and net realisable value to
RoE K& R AE - HRXR N E XM E M A historical sales patterns and expectation of future sales
REHR A MBRRERMBRE - orders;

HEREERADAFLEBENSHETE (HRBE
BABEESEARENHEEBAIMZEH) mE - &M
FERLEREHREERTEEFERBAHEEA R
RRHEFTENEE  MELMEREEAMNARE
BE:

For slow moving inventories where management
considered provision is not required as they are
supported by secured sales orders, we tested, on a
sample basis, the sales orders received from customers
and net realisable value of products by comparing the
estimated selling price and sales quantity of individual
product with the corresponding post year-end sales
data; and
HEBERRBAELBENFHTE(HNEHA
FERAEMHEETEXRF)ME  HFABBLR
BEREmRNEFEERHEERMARFREHER
BRI EPRENG ERE R #RF
B R

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of inventory provision.

M FEREENEIERE -

Based on our evidence obtained and procedures performed,
we considered the judgements and assumptions made by
management in relation to their assessment for provision of
slow moving inventories were supportable.
BREZRFPMENEELATOIE  RARREEER
T SR AL B HIE R RR B R S e
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Independent Auditor's Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
todo so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report

T8 N 12 BUAM R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate treats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report

T8 N 12 BUAM R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chan Hin Gay, Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022

110 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - sk Bt 22 S B 1= i B R A 7]

BB MBS e M ERRARIE
NEE @)

REFHZESBBNFETD - HIIREEWL
EEHAHGEMBRRANBARSEER
MmsKERESFSFRE - RMERBERETHE
MELEIR  BIPERER I AN RAREE
LEF HEBRRELHNERLT  MRAEE
HERMBETRBRERENNBEEZRE
BEENARAE  RAIRETERERSTE
BEER

HARBY ZBERENETEEEGEAZR
B

EORKEEMERAR
S E i

B8 B _F=A-+=H



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

et ERa R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bt 2 = FE = —4#F+=H=+—HIFZ

2021 2020
:E: o ﬂi — ? — = E'E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Revenue g 5 132,250 69,499
Cost of sales HEMA 6 (77,740) (43,362)
Gross profit EX 54,510 26,137
Other income HAng A 8 382 632
Other losses, net Hih i858 9 (465) (1,047)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAY 6 (2,106) (1,080)
Administrative expenses THAX 6 (10,472) (8,346)
Operating profit KRR 41,849 16,296
Finance income BhE WA 11 24 69
Finance cost BhE AR 11 (7) (113)
Finance income/(cost), net BMEUWA S (BA) F5E 17 (44)
Profit before income tax I?Fﬁ SHAEF 41,866 16,252
Income tax expense FrS i 12 (6,780) (2,608)
Profit for the year attributable to RNARHEE AEG
owners of the Company F N A 35,086 13,644
Other comprehensive income Eﬂi’.éﬁ W&
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AJBEE R 7 M E R B
HE
Currency translation differences ERBmEEE 22 1,371 3,032
Total comprehensive income for the year FREZAEKZEE 36,457 16,676

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity ~ ANA AlfEzS 1B A JEIG

holders of the Company for the year b villEoksy el
Basic and diluted earnings per share ST EYINNE LS
(HK cents per share) (FREBL) 13 8.8 34

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read  _E#ll4R & 2 T Uz 55 & EEfE MO B o — HF R RE o
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REEERER

Asat 31 December 221 R = FE - —4#+=-H=+—H

2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS'000
THExT TFETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEKRE 15 13,088 8,507
Prepayments and deposits FENRBERES 18 5,850 4,261
Deferred tax assets EIERIAE B 27 107 78
19,045 12,846
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 25,575 23,867
Trade receivables g SN IE 17 38,895 22,028
Prepayments, deposits and TANFRIE - 'e Rk
other receivables H b pE U IR 18 4,298 5,564
Current income tax recoverable —IW@EUHH?)T S = 152
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBESZED 20 56,387 43,130
125,155 94,741
Total assets EEHAE 144,200 107,587
Equity and liabilities EENEE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NARIHER AEEERS
Share capital f&N 21 4,000 4,000
Reserves B 22 125,531 97,074
Total equity FELSAEER 129,531 101,074
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

~

A RE

BEXR

Asat 31 December 221 R=—FE - —F+=-F=+—H

2021 2020
=== —ETF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHxT FHIT
Liabilities =N
Non-current liability FnBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 = 79
- 79
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S ENIE 24 8,343 4,465
Accruals and other payables FEET & A R B Ath A~ KR 25 1,901 1,868
Current income tax liabilities BNERpTISFi B (& 4,346 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 79 101
14,669 6,434
Total liabilities SERAE 14,669 6,513
Total equity and liabilities EEREERE 144,200 107,587

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the — _Fi4R& B E B &R FEEFEMF = — 51508 -
accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 178 were approved by 117 2 178 BWG S BHRAEHEST N —
the Board of Directors on 22 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf. T _FZA-+-HEEE IRREEFEFH

% o
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
PR 42 42 BREEM
Director Director
EF EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H= N\ 7/ "'
/ N lul:lll\

/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bt 2 —F = —4F 1+ = HA=+—HI-FZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRFER A
Share Share Capital Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reseve  earnings Total
RAE  BHEE AARE  EERE  ERGE  REEN e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TBT TAT TAT THET TBT
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 22) (Note 22)
(Pzk2r)  (Brskar)  (WsE22)  (MaE22)  (B¥&E22)
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-Z-Z25-8-H
a8k 4,000 451 13,000 2170 (636) 31353 92,398
Profit for the year EREH = - - - - 13,644 13,644
Other comprehensiveincome  Htt 2%
Currency translation differences ERhE RS - - - - 3032 - 3032
Total comprehensive income FREARELE
for the year - - - - 3032 13,644 16,676
Transactions with equity holders: EEXEEANRS
Dividends paid BERRE - (8,000) - - - (8000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTRE - - - 506 = (506) =
- (8,000) - 506 - (506) (8,000)
Balanceat31December2020 HR=-Z=FF
TZR=t+-HNEH 4,000 34511 13,000 2676 23% 44491 101,074
114 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - sk ik & & B2 iR 5 IR 2 7]



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2y N A
GAEREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bt 2 = FE = —4#F+=H=+—HIFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

EAREEAES
Share Share Capital  Statutory Exchange  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
RA ROEE EXfEE iERE ERREE  RERF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TER TER TET TAR
(Note21)  (Note21) (Note22) (Note22) (Note22)
(Wat21)  (HaE21)  (ME22)  (FiaE22)  (ME22)
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-Z--f5-8-H
WER 4,000 34,511 13,000 2,676 2,396 44,491 101,074
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - 35,086 35,086
Other comprehensiveincome ~ Ht2EH
Currency translation differences Bl E A - - - - 1,371 - 1,371
Total comprehensive income FREANEEE
for the year - - - - 1,371 35,086 36,457
Transactions with equity holders: EEXEEANRS
Dividends paid BRRE - (8,000) - - - - (8,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTLTRE - - - 529 - (529) =
- (8,000) - 529 - (529) (8,000)
Balanceat31December2021 R=-Z=-F
+ZR=1-BtEe 4,000 26,511 13,000 3,205 3,767 79,048 129,531

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in AR & 1 55 5 B 3% 8 ERBE P P 5 — GF B A& -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ceEREeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Bt 2 —F = —4F 1+ = HA=+—HI-FZ

2021 2020
—EC--F —T_FHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHEHEERE
Cash generated from operations KRBTSR S 29(a) 31,338 15,963
Income tax paid EANIZIESE (2,311) (4,890)
Interest received BUH B 24 69
Net cash generated from operating activities K& EEEBRERE 29,051 11,142
Cash flows from investing activities REZTBHEESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  WMENEE (184) (1,035)
Payments for construction in progress EREITREFIE (5,873) 5
Prepayments for purchase of property, ,ﬁﬁ, W BE &
plant and equipment BN R (789) (4,243)
Prepayments for purchase of intangible assets BEEPEEMNTENIE (800) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHMARSFEE (7,646) (5278)
Cash flows from financing activities METHEESRE
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities YRBEEBERN S (7) (113)
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities ~ X {NHE B BRI D (101) (3,757)
Dividends paid BT S (8,000) (8,000)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEEARSEHE (8,108) (11,870)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  IR& MIBREEEY)
M,/ (R) 1227 STy
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#)IR& MIBE&EHEY 43,130 49,040
Currency translation differences EMBREETE (40) 9%
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear FRELRREZEY 56,387 43,130

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  LiAR& IR E IR 8 2R & ELBEMT P T —OFBIRE o
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law
3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of machinery
product (the “Business”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$") unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under historical cost convention.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in note 4.

A BB HRRW

—REF

AABRBEREFSEOIELERRE
(—NAR—FEIFREH - LERE RIERT)
RS S TMA N RERRER AT
HRMREBEBHE RS AR AR ([ #
A1) GEM £ o AR AR & = 52
#b #E /A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ©

RAFRREER AR EEAREE
NERENEERMER((BB%XE]) -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations
(a)  Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to standard for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

COVID-19 — Related rent concessions —
amendments to HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 —
amendment to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7
and HKFRS 16

The adoption of the above amendments to
standards did not have any significant impact on the
significant accounting policies of the Group and the
presentation of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BB HRRW

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXRSTHBEBE@R
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)

2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations (Continued) 2.1.1 BETERRARE(E)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations (b) EAEARME R AERL -
which have been issued but are not yet effective and AREXREFIRF RN
have not been early adopted by the Group: BIFT AT R ASAE T2 Rl

PR
Certain new and amended standards and AT HE] RS TR
interpretations have been published that are kZzEBELMEM - VA
mandatory for financial year beginning on or after 1 RZE-Z=—F—H—H
January 2022 have not been early adopted by the 2 BB ERFEE
Group. These are: CRHIER  ERELRSE
@Tm?%@ﬂ Z % %A
Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RT5 B 2%
BRI EREEN
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 April 2021
beyond 30 June 2021
EEUBHmEEAE 165 (BR]AR) T —FRA=THBEN —ZT-—F1A—H
Covid-191078 2 10 & B
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BB HELERFE 39 (BFTA) PSRBT —ZT-_—F—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022
BB G ERE 1658 (BFTA) ANERUE B iR AT Z PR FRIA B S s =5
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — Cost of 1 January 2022
Fulfilling a Contract
BB GERE 3758 (BETA) BREH — BITANBKA T —#—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2022
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41 2018-2020 (amendments)
BRI HmEERE 15K E}%ﬁﬁ%i&iﬁm]:% NEEZE —ZE-—_F—H—H
BRI MEERFE 5 - “ERF 7 FEUGE (BFTA)

ERUBREERE 165 %
BB ERIZE 41 5% (BRI A)

Amendments to Accounting Guideline5  Revised Accounting Guideline 5 1 January 2022
(Revised) Merger Accounting for Common

Control Combinations

Rietast el 5 9t (IBFTAS) KiEREIESIESHARES T —F—HA—H
BHstEEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023
Non-current

FREGRTERIZE 15t (BRI A) BENBAREIIFRD gz e
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ERETBRBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
2.1.1 Amended standards and interpretations (Continued) 2.1.1 BIETERRARE(E)
(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations (b) EAEAEME e R AERL -
which have been issued but are not yet effective and AREXREFIRF RN

120

have not been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

HYFT 5] RAEIEZTE A &

Amendments to HKAS 8

BAGTERE 3R (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

ARG ENE 1 R RBBY B RS
HREBAEE 29 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BEGRTERIZE 1258 (BRI A)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BEBREFSH(ZZTZF)

HKFRS 17
BB BHRELERFE 175
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BBMEHRELERNE 105X
EFETEDFE 2858 (BFTA)

Definition of Accounting Estimate
EFHEENER

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BT BERHE

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction

REE-—XZMEERAEZ
MRRIER IR

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

MBBRER — ERAKEHE

2fE ()

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RS % z2%
BB NS HE LR

1 January 2023
—T-=%—H—H
1 January 2023
ot S ] =

1 January 2023

—E-_=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—E-_=%—AF—H

BRERERFFINERERD R

Insurance Contracts

REEE R

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

KREEHAEBEARHAEE QR

ZHENEELEIEE

1 January 2023
—E_=%—-H—H

To be determined

e

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations of HKFRS and is not
yet in a position to state whether they would have a
significant impact on the Group's results and
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

24

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has the control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors who make strategic
decisions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - sx Bt &2

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the Company’s functional
and the Company'’s and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income within
"other losses, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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BB HmRW T

MMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the
straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over its estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and machinery
Office equipment

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements

10 years

5 years

3 years

Shorter of lease terms
and useful lives

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at the end of each reporting period.
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A BB HRRW

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARETBERHEE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.8 Financial assets 28 SWEE

(a) Classification (a) o8

(b)

(c)

The Group classifies its financial assets as those to be
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represented solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “other losses, net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.

(b)

(c)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

29

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assess on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The provision
matrix is determined based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.
At every reporting date the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. Note 3 details how the Group determine whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

2.10 Financial liabilities

(a) Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability arc substantially different. In this case, a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and
the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised
in profit or loss.
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A BB HRRW

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

BEARSTBERBE#)

211 EiHESmT A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered

EAKBEREAAT AT AITREAN A
Tfﬁféaﬁﬁw/i\gﬁ M EHR R AR
BRAEEREERGERE
CEREEEBBEAEMRKE
ﬁﬁ%i&ﬁ%‘%ﬁi AEBIERIZLAD

into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but FERERHEATEETERT
still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain (IMEESRIEE L) MEEHEEE
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a r 2 HE o
contract.

2.12 Trade and other receivables 2.12 ,‘%5 RHEMERRE
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods B RWGRIBERATHE XK BIES

sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and
therefore all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See note 17 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and note 2.9 for a description of
the Group's impairment policies.

2.13 Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs
are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.13
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include deposits held at call with banks and
cash on hand.

2.15 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EBEARETBERHEE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.17 BNHA N EIEFR 588 (48)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to
be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up
to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Retirement benefits plans

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) which is a defined
contribution plan and is available to all employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
MPF Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entity participate
in a government mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension
benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance,
employee housing fund and other these benefits based on
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries. Full time
employees who have passed the probation period are
entitled to such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contribution are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are
due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available. The Group did not have
defined benefit plans.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BASHBEHME®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued) 2.18 EE®RI (&)

(iii) Bonus plans (iii) TEALETEI

REBIRBET MR RIREE
EaEAMEHEREELETH
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after BRIEERCABERMASY - K
certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision SERBEHNEFEKBEED
where contractually obliged or where there is a past EEAHT R TREREE -
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration

2.19 Provisions 2.19 B1E
EAEEERBASHMELRBE
FRHEET MERAEFTEER

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the MEABITER - BEsEaE S
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. FTEF - RIMEREE - BETERARRK
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. AR MR o

MBS EEUEL  EEEHE
BRI TN RAEEEE

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by

considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.20 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the entity’'s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEARSHBERBE@R
POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.21 W= FER (&)
Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for MHﬂZ SR REME MRS BB
the Group's activity as described below: FEERR Rl

The Group manufactures and sells a range of machinery products
and mechanical parts to customers. Sales of goods transferred at
a point in time are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, the customer has full discretion over the usage of the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. No element of
financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit
term of 30-120 days, which is consistent with market practice.

AEFERER AR HEZERTR
EE G N M A o TE 7 SR O 928 I 4
BEZEAERRNTFERZE)
BEEBREFEAZEEMNTEWE
o BEMEN R ERFPFEXER
MABITE AR  BREREHZ
EREMMEE - ARNEEHIRE
EH30Z 120 ET HETER
BBMITNFEREREZ -

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an WMRAEBEEEALEERTERP
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group Bl - B HREIAEBEBEK
transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group MEGHRESTE  AEET IR
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment is NHKERRBAR(UNREER
received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A B)RF2IEGHNREHEE &8
contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer the promised BEAAKENC AR IERE
goods to a customer for which the Group has received (HRESEINH) A E P EEA
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the FERNEMT-

customer.

2.22 Earnings per share 2.22 BRER
(i)  Basic earnings per share (i) SBRELXZEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: BRERBA TR T 5 BRE

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, BRIAKR AR B AEIL
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than E TeREEENES
ordinary shares FR DA SN B Pl 745 2 B AN

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares . BRAZMBERE RS
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 1T B AR I 1
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the HXT HE - WREFA
year and excluding treasury shares. BEITH S B AR A IR A EE

B (IR EER) -

(ii) Diluted earnings per share (i) BREBFER
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the BREERANARTEGRE
determination of basic earnings per share to take into REFFTRAREIE - 5T ¢
account:

,\/EE%/%{ELHX*H%
9 F) B K E th B8 B B A
HRFTETRTE &

the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary TR ETEE S MR
shares that would have been outstanding assuming BEBEE R T
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary FHAINE 8 I B9 D S 5
shares. g o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

2.24 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

2.25 Leases
The Group leases production factory in PRC and office in Hong
Kong. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods of two
to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease
and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single lease
component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)

BEARSTBERBE#)

2.25 FHE (&)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included
in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease
liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

RESEMECEEERNNE
ENRTAHARBHEZA -

HEMNFEREEFR SN AL
1TREER o WA E ST LN E (B
SEEEN—RER) - AIEAAH
ARVIRE B R - BIERIAMEA
EROUGEREPIZELGER - &
RRGHEARSEEREEER
BRUBENEEMFEESMLA
ST EYFI R

RETEEERNE  AEEET
BLRRT - 8 AR E R AAA BT
BNE=HRAERLEREND
DR EEEE = H R LR
BA KIS

R 1 71 R A B 3R K RO AT 5 2% 5

ERMER(EBOHRMERTHE
ﬂ) M 3% ) 2 B AE B B N 1B AR
H AKBEREURNERE[E
ﬁu%’i?‘iuﬁ EERAEK -

ZRER B R 2R A] BEAR 5 4 Bk B K 48
DNAT T E A - MA R 2k
MEEEMA TG AEERE -
BIRIR I BN R H A E R
MABLEME  HEAGRSRER
REEEETENNERHE -

MENRRA S KM BRA 2 HIE
DR - MBERAEREHRRA
AR UL EHRERBEELN
MRERFF—2 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 - =& = — 4 4F 3§ 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4B B 5 R AR MY At

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties
under leases which are measured at cost. The initial costs of right-
of-use assets include the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen
not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

2.26 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholder is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

2.27 Research and development costs

Research and development expenditure is recognised as an
expense as incurred and classified under of cost of sales.
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 Bi¥EREEXREEESE
MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 MEREBEZE
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: N E ) E TS E R 2 e B S R e
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair value interest WEHFA FERR - BerEk
rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management AFENERR RS E SRR
procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and REBRREBREREER T2
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's NIERAM TS WESRKESH
financial performance. RE AR E BB BRI BT
TR E -
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (i) IMNERE
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is REERBEERFTEHEE
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various WL EE R R EERIMNER
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars % xZH@EET(ER))
("USD") and Renminbi ("RMB"). Foreign exchange risk )SU\E#S‘UAE’H“AJ) HINEEE [
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised MEE B IS EEENAR
assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these REHERS CHEREERE
currencies. Since Hong Kong dollar ("HKD”) is pegged to E-mRBT((Bx]) Bx
USD, the Group believes the exposure of transactions TCHMS ZFE@MEZ’SE.J
denominated in USD which are entered into the by Group SAZETTEMERIAZ R
to be insignificant. BEXe
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has (E_E - —F+A=1—
not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its HIEFE @ AEBEWEETLE
foreign exchange exposures (2020: Nil). A H7 4 T B 8 i B SN E [ B

TETF HE) o

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has RBE_Z_-_—F+=H
not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its =+—HIEFE  AEEIE
foreign exchange exposures (2020: Nil). I AERIOT A T A% s E SN E

B (ZZ=ZF : ) o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 MBEBRREFRREREER®
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERBEEE)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) HERKE)
As at 31 December 2021, if USD has strengthened/ RZEZ—F+ZH=1+—
weakened by 5% against RMB, and RMB has strengthened/ B WELTEARE BE
weakened by 5% against HKS, with all other variables held 5% - ARARKEEBTHA
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have B5% - MAAAEMESRES
change mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses N FERBIRHMNEEPT
on translation of USD and RMB denominated on cash and 28 TZHRERUETR
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade ARBEEHENREMREEE
and other payables, as follows: Y - B 5 RHEAMEWKIERE

5 N H e A 3R 89 BE 3 U
%R R

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase KRB &5 K R4 ),/ #810

— USD/RMB exchange rate — —ETHARKBEE — FHE%
Strengthened 5% 1,061 752
— USD/RMB exchange rate — —ETHARBER — B2E %
Weakened 5% (1,061) (752)
— RMB/HKS exchange rate — — AREE S B TTER — FHE 5%
Strengthened 5% 636 185
— RMB/HKS exchange rate — — AREBEEBTTER — B2 E 5%
Weakened 5% (636) (185)
(i) Creditrisk i) FERR
(i) Risk management 0 ERE
Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade $%@ MEERRER
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash REBSEEHE 17
and cash equivalents. Majority of bank deposits are KR H A PR SR IR~ DA
placed with reputable banks and financial ERERBEFED -
institutions. The maximum exposure to credit risk is KEB 7 RITIF A7 R
represented by the carrying amount of each financial FERFMRITRER
asset in the consolidated balance sheet. wE-sREERRR
HAREERBERSER
BMEENKREE -
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 Bi¥ERREXAEEEIE®)

MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERBEEE)

(ii)  Credit risk (Continued) (ii) FEELW@)
(i) Riskmanagement (Continued) () EEBEEE)
The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit AEBREBORERRA
terms are made to customers with an appropriate BEFEEEELHNE
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit FEREEEH  BA&%
evaluations of its customers. The Group’s historical EHEFETTEHEER
experience in collection of trade and other FEE o AEEBAKE
receivables falls within the recorded allowances and B E 5 U RIE R H A
the shareholder are of the opinion that adequate JEMRIE S E AR
provision for uncollectible receivables has been HER - MBERR F%E
made. BT AT UK B A BB T
YEH B AR -

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits BHSREWHIE Zaek
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents Eﬁﬂfgﬂﬁl RIBER SR
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit ReZEYNERAEEE
risk in relation to financial assets. TEEREMEERT

MEAEERR

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 58% (2020: BHE_ZT-_—F+_H
64%), of the Group's revenue was derived from its E—E Ltiﬁ &
top five customers. As at 31 December 2021, 83% of Bz ssn (T -F
the total trade receivables were due from the F 64 REERAE
Group's top five customers (2020: 61%). F-RZZEZ—F+=

A=+—H Z5EK
FIHAARER83% (= =
TF 61%) BEMASE

ENRAARES -
(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZHEERE
The Group has two types of financial assets that are AEEEMECREE
subject to the expected credit loss model: R IEHE AR AR AT
R -
trade receivables; and . B I RWFIE &
other financial assets at amortised cost. . SR E M ERR
I8 o
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - sx Bt &2

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group then determines the provision for
expected credit losses by grouping the trade
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of
the trade receivables. The expected loss rates are
based the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency to write-
off. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the Asia-Pacific Region annual Gross
Domestic Product (the “GDP”) growth rate of the
countries in which it sells its goods and services to
be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected changes
in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, no provision of
impairment for trade receivables were made as the
expected loss rate were minimal.

SEERABRAF]

3

3.1

BRRERBREARBEE®)
BEREREE(E)
(i) EERRE)
() SBBEREE)

B N
AEERBARNEE
ENC =R SRS €]
FEWRIEEI T4 - W
42 Uy 2k T Y BR TE 42
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%

CRMETESEER
%E&ﬁ TEH S IE X
T B E W 2R 08 48 4
BRHEREEEEHEN
m$ BAEBEERED
FAEUNRMEERS &
HEWGREE R
A E K E BT R ATIE M
R AEBBEBEH
EERERBZERD
EK%EEERWE%
4 {8 ([GDP)) {E & & 18
By 2R%x WREY
ttiﬁlﬁmiﬁ,ﬂﬁ """"" L3
BRAEIEL X o

EEHERYRKAETRE
HY A UL B B & T DA
e RERMEEK D
MiEReERE(EFERE)
BEBAREEITRAE
BeyERET S BoREE
fER A AR -

B E 5 RIBRREE
BREEEMNRNEN A
BEEIBFRE - LATE
Hss 2 B E % Y e Al
FFAERKGER -

RZEZZEFR=F
e VR = 1 —
A AREHRBEXE
B WA ELE D E
WK E R BB -
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Creditrisk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include cash
and cash equivalents and other receivables.
Impairment on other financial assets are measured
as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the Hong Kong unemployment
rate and Hong Kong GDP to be the most relevant
factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
The Group has closely monitored the credit qualities
and the collectability of the other financial assets at
amortised cost and the loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 was immaterial.

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets or
liabilities except for cash and cash equivalents.

Hence our Group’s income and operating cash flows are
less dependent on changes in market interest rates.
Accordingly, our directors are of the opinion that our Group
does not have significant cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is performed.

A BB HRRW

3 BXERBEREARBRER @)

3.1 HMKREBEZEE)
iy =ERK(E)

(i) HEEREE)
BEEN AT ENEAM
SREE
REHEK AT ENEM
CREEBRASRE
S EEY R H MR
15 o HAth & Bt & = MR
EUNREAMTESREE
EBEEREHBEHEEE
Eﬁ% BURR B AR

RURBEERR 2
Eaﬁaﬁ%i*bu o fin] & UK
HEMEERRBVIR
HRARE BEL I -
WMENEHEREEES
Bit2 - BABEXRE
HAE . URBERT &
AIEHEM ZE&ERZ
R ZEREFER
FiERKZKEDRE
N REBREBEEKX
ERLEHEGP Ty &8
AREE UREZS
A=/ TE B &L FB FE 3
BRETEEX - XEH
B2 1) BE 2R H Ath 2 5
KA ENESREEDN
FEE & KA U E M
MR-_TE-_TFE+_4
=+t—BkR=_ZF_—%
+-A=1+—BiREH
MAFTENEMeHHE
EREERETTERX -

(iii) BERERAFENZEK
RIEe KBS EEYI A&
B ESAGFTEEENAE

Et - RERBWA REEETR
BimE TABUAR TS MR
28 - HAit - FEERR - AKE
EifEEAHeRE RAF
BEFERERE - WEELGURE
DA e
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 MBEBRREFRREREER®
MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERBEEE)
(iv) Liquidity risk (ivy RBESER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining HEAORDESRAREEER
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Our Group's liquidity ZHRBRANRERBCEE
risk is further mitigated through the availability of financing W) o AN HFE B AR AR & &93R
through its own cash resources to meet its financial S ERESRE - AR EH
commitments. In the opinion of our directors, our Group TEEIE - FEUAE— P REER
does not have any significant liquidity risk. HECRAR - EF2RL - K%
BRI ERNRBESR
|Z‘.%
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREINAEG LRIV ST
maturities at the end of each reporting period of our EAEEZAEESHAERN
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual BEMEMRZBTAEOEIEA
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date our Group EARSEANRZZFEAE -
can be required to pay. Balances due within 12 months ARIFTEOTZERIR K12
equal their carrying balances (including both interest and EARR AR S RN EEE
principal) as the impact of discounting is not significant. HEiR (BIEFBRAES) °
Between1 Between2
Repayable  Lessthan and and Over
on demand 1year 2years 5years 5years Total
REREE 15 1226 2E5F 5E% A%
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Asat31December2021 RZZE-Z—f
+ZR=1-H
— Trade payables —BSEATE - 8,343 - - - 8,343
— Accruals and other —EHERRAM
payables B30 - 1,139 - - - 1,139
— Lease liabilities —HERE - 81 - - - 81
- 9563 - - - 9583
Asat31 December2020 ~ M-ZT-ZF
+=-A=+-A
— Trade payables — B HRENFE = 4465 = = = 4465
— Accruals and other — B ERARAM
payables BRI - 1275 - - = 1275
— Lease liabilities —HEaE s 108 81 = = 189
- 5848 81 _ . 5929
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FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 MEBEBRREXARRERE®

MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXRERE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard $E .Zﬁ$’~'ﬂg BT RERE
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to BEBELE  LARRERER
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other ﬁﬁ@?—rfﬁ%’ﬁfx%”ﬁﬁ - [ A
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to ?—rF E BREBLUBIRE S ©

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may RTHEFAABRERGEE  A5E
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return AREgREXNTRENKRE®
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce M RBRREEES - BTITHRN
debt. HEEEREER
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any debt owed RZEBEZ—F+=ZR=+—H ' XK
to other party (2020 Nil). gllﬂ ERE M T ERER(Z
TRF | o
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEZME
The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets, HRERBME  AEBRHKER
including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash HensemEE(RIEE SRR
and cash equivalents, and current financial liabilities, including M R REMEKFKIE  Re
trade payables and accruals and other payables and lease kREEFEEY) i BE (R
liabilities approximate their fair values as at the reporting date FEZENFIBRETER KA
due to their short maturities. ERFIERBERR) 2 RHEIMEH

HAFEREE -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed
below.

(a)

(b)

Provision for slow moving inventories

The Group makes provision for slow moving inventories based on
assessing the needs and reasonableness of provision for slowing
moving inventories at each period end. The identification of slow
moving inventories requires the use of judgements and key
assumptions which take into consideration of historical sales
pattern, ageing and expectation of future sales orders. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision for
inventories in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Impairment of right of use assets

The Group leased land and buildings in the PRC for the purposes
of its office premises and manufacturing plant under an operating
lease of 10 years where the leased land and buildings, classified
as right of use assets of the Group were without land and
property ownership certificates and the construction planning
permit. Without the certificates and permit, the existing land and
buildings might be ordered for demolition or confiscated and the
lease may be deemed as invalid. Our directors are of the opinion,
based on the advice from the Group’s external legal adviser, that
the title defect of the leased land and buildings does not affect
the operation of production facility of the Group. It is unlikely to
be terminated or interrupted or to have a material effect on the
carrying amount of the right of use assets which was included in
right of use assets totalling HK$2,816,000 as at 31 December 2021
(2020: HK$3,350,000).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - 7Bt &2 S= Bl 5 i B BR A &)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

Loss allowance of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group's historical default rates, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
The Group recognised lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables carried at amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant amounts or
known insolvencies or non-response to collection activities, or
collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery based on
ageing of the balances with similar risk characteristics taking into
account the forward looking information. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying value of
receivables and loss for the impairment of receivables recognized
in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.

4 BERESTHEFTRHAE 2

(c)

(d)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors of our Group.
Management has determined the operating segments based on the
information reviewed by our executive director for the purpose of
allocating resources and assessing performance. The only component
in internal reporting to the executive directors is our Group's
manufacturing and trading of machinery products for the year ended
31 December 2021. In this regard, management considers there is only
one operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segment based
on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

All of our Group's revenue are from contracts with customers and are
recognised at a point in time. Please refer to note 2.21 for details of
accounting policies on revenue recognition.

(@) Revenue from major customers who have
individually contributed 10% or more of total
revenue of the Group
For the year ended 31 December 2021, there were three
customers (2020: four), which individually contributed over 10%
of our Group's total revenue. Revenue contributed from our
major customers were as follows:

Wz K 7o B E

EEERARABNAEEENRITE
Fo ANEEBERITIERE EEECDIR
$ﬂﬁ§$§ﬁﬁ@§ﬂ%m%%““ﬁ EES
—FTZA=1T—HLFE " [

TESFNFZ2HHE—Br/BEEEH
%E&Ei?ﬁ?%*fﬁﬁﬁ: UM E - BIBED
%Hﬁ‘%iﬁif@ |28 855 [ 48 5 &6 | A9#R

BEREERRBEE LKL -

S

ESRBRERENFEFGHEEDE
MR -

AEBHFEREHARAETFPEH - WK
%_HTFﬁgﬁﬁﬁwu ° EF@EL& Eﬁwua E+LEAZ4/'E§
BVEES - 2RI 221 -

() REENERMAERA K
10%HUENETEEZFHNWRE

BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HL
FE -HF-H(ZZT-ZFF : HH)
X E BRI E B A & B 48 U 25 10% A
L FEXPERMBEEINNT -

2021 2020
—EC--F —FE_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THBT
Customer A TEEA 23,609 13,053
Customer B EFB 17,684 N/A 58 A
Customer C BREC 16,601 8,043
Customer E ®PFE N/A RiE A 10,109
Customer F BFF N/A 38 7,159
* The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of total revenue * HEEFPRIEBFETEEMASE
of the Group for the respective years. MBS 10% A L ©
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Coniinved) 5 WERDIPEL &)

(b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical (b) REFHEBNEE 2N DI
location =
Our Group is domiciled in the PRC and Hong Kong. Our Group's REBURABEEES AEEK
revenue by geographical location, which is determined by the WV E (BETFPNEETE)ED
location of customers, is as follows: ST
2021
—E_—F
HK$’000
TE T
Singapore I3 45,858 24,120
Hong Kong B 40,961 18,134
Philippines JERE 20,007 1215
Malaysia BARE D 10,412 8,555
Japan SN 7,171 3,421
Taiwan =y 1,494 823
New Zealand Eoiel| 1,439 58
The PRC a3 1,436 1,391
Vietnam jideT] 1,379 498
Northern Ireland b E B 1,215 10,109
Thailand B2 - 1,009
Others (Note) A (B EE) 878 166
132,250 69,499
Note: BT -
Others include Canada, Iceland and Korea. HipmEmMEA - kE R o
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Details of contract liabilities (Note 25)

BMAE -
H b e 5RIR

Contract liabilities, included in accruals
and other payables

5

FTARERTE A R

Wk oeER#)

(c)

BHEERE (MEE25)

2021
—E_—F

2020
—E -

—= =

HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
FEx

Note:

As at 31 December 2021, contract liabilities represent advanced payments received
from the customers for goods that have not yet been transferred to the customers,
the contract liabilities mainly included the advance payments received from sale of
machinery products. The contract liabilities decreased during the year due to
fluctuation in sales with advanced payments.

Revenue recognised that was included

SFAF AN B BEESRD

Bt -

RZZE-_—F+-A=+—0 &HEERK
FEREETEPOE R TEN TR -
BMRETEBEHEEENERMIERNTE
MR - RAFE - GHEERYRBENK
TRHYSHE KB TFF ©

2021
—7—_q5

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHTT

HK$'000
TR

in the contract liability balance at the BRI RS
beginning of the year
Sales contracts HESL 8 175
As at 31 December 2021, all performance obligations not yet N-_ZE-_—F+-_HA=+—H ' &K

satisfied by the Group were from contracts with original expected
duration of less than one year. Therefore, as permitted by the
relevant practical expedient under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied performance obligations were not disclosed.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - sk Bt 22 S B 1= i B R A 7]
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continved) 5 WEHRDIER (&)

(d) Non-current assets by geographical location (d) RHUBNBESNERBEE
The total of non-current assets other than financial instruments BREEMEWEDHIERBEEL
and deferred tax assets, broken down by location of the assets, is BB TAREERBEEERIN)
shown in the following: BRARYIRAAT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE&xT F&T

The PRC rh 18,006 12,535
Hong Kong BE 932 233
18,938 12,768

EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 RMEITHHAX

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and STASHERAN « HERS BB RITHH

administrative expenses are analysed as follows: YHIRE S DT

2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F&T
Cost of inventories and consumable (Note 19) 77 & N SEFE AR (FsE19) 69,982 36,865
Provision/(reversal of) for slow moving #ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ/(%@ )58
inventories, net (Note 19) (FzE19) 22 G
Employee benefit expenses, including EBEBARAX  BIEEEME
directors’ emoluments (Note 7) (PfE7) 10,620 8,027
Amortisation oy = 76
Depreciation (Note 15) e (FizE15) 1,835 1,734
Legal and professional fees EERBXER 1,688 1,563
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B 357 A
— Audit services — BRI 1,050 950
— Non-audit services — EETRE 50 50
Utilities NEMRTE 761 610
Transportation expenses BRI 1,873 866
Other expenses HihFx 2,437 2,050

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution SHERA - HE KD HMX
expenses and administrative expenses RITBAXB5E 90,318 52,788
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7 EEEANNX SEES#HE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(@) Employee benefit expenses (a) EEEAFEX
2021 2020
—B——F —E T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THxT T
Wages, salaries, bonuses and other benefits T& « ¥4 - {EAL R E & F 9,849 7,843
Retirement benefit costs RRFEFIA A
— defined contribution plans — FREHEFETE 695 125
Mandatory provident fund scheme wEIM A AEeETE 76 59
10,620 8,027
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBBRSHEA

The five individuals whose remuneration were the highest in the
Group include two directors for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: two), whose remuneration are reflected in the
analysis presented in Note 10(a) below.

The remuneration paid to the remaining three individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: three) are as follows:

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—8HL1
FE AEEFHFHNEEHRAE
ABERE(ZE_FF : Fﬁ%)%
£ HHMR A T SCHFE106) AT
Z25H DT ©

BE_Z-_—49+_-_A=+—81t
FE - BXRFHT=ZH(ZZEZ
TF =) EAANFMETI T

2021 2020

B —F —ETF

HK$’000 HKS'000

FHET FHIT

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other benefits T& - ¥4 - TE4L K& E 12 F) 913 846
Retirement benefit costs RIREFAA

— defined contribution plans (Note) — EREHIEE (M) 18 6

Mandatory provident fund scheme EHIENTESETE 25 25

956 877
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7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7 BEEREANRX BREREENE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EBRBRSHFMBA(E)
The emolument of the highest paid individuals fell within the B F EARME BN A THER

following bands:

Emolument band B & 48 7
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2 1,000,000 87T 3 3
Note: e
No directors or any of the five highest paid individuals received any emoluments BEr—_T-—F+_A=+—HUEE #&
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or BMESFIMNALELR T2 E B REERK
compensation for loss of office for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). Bl B 4 VE & AN A ZS 52 @ 3k i A 14 1 52 B
SEEBE (CTTF  |) -
8 OTHERINCOME 8 HlA
2021 2020
—®--—F - e 22
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TETT
Sales of scrapped materials SHERER 302 180
Employment support scheme RS = 198
Government grants IR #e8 B = 240
Sundry income FETEWA 80 14
382 632
9 OTHERLOSSES, NET 9 HMBRFR

2021 2020
— —E-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Exchange differences, net MEH = F R 465 1,047
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR 10 EENERRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EENEE

The emoluments of individual directors for our Company paid RBEE T -_ZTFER_ZT - —F

and payable by our Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 +TZA=+—HILFE T&£EBE

and 2021 are set out below: T RERAARENEERNEH
HgAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020: BHE-Z-_ZFF+-_A=+—H1t
FE:

Allowances Employer's

and  contribution

Discretionary benefits to pension

Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme

BRI
itk ¥t BRRA i EEIR T
HGOD SO0 HKSOD MDD HGOD  HKSOD
TiEn TiEn TR TR TR TR

Executive directors: HESE:
Mr.YP Chan (Chairman and RIEW T4

Chief Executive Officer) (ZERITBAZ) - 767 - - 2 789
Mr. Chan Lung Pan ks - 372 - - 18 39
Independent non-executive BUNTES:

directors:
Mr.Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan — BRGAE %4 180 = = = = 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam erEat 144 = = = = 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting EAELT 144 = = = = 144
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continved) 10 EEBWEHNI R REZS )

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@ ESZNEM<#E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021: BE-—f-—4+=-A=t+—H81
FE:

Allowances  Employer's
and  contribution
Discretionary benefits  topension
Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total

RER  BEEK
g ¥&  BERA  RUEN  FEER @it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TR TRR

Executive directors: BIES:
Mr. YP Chan (Chairman and RIEH A4

Chief Executive Officer) (TEFTHEH) = 8n - - 27 898
Mr. Chan Lung Pan e 5 - 412 - - 18 430

Independent non-executive BUETES:

directors:

Mr.Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan ~ BREAS %4 180 = = = = 180

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam ST+ 144 - - - - 144

Ms. Tam Ho Ting EWELt 144 - - - - 144
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration X E e ZEE S UAARNEEF
received from our Group by these directors in their capacity as MEARREE ZMHENEBRWEH
employee to the subsidiaries of our Group and no directors HW REBEE-_ZT=_—4%+_A8
waived any emolument during the year ended 31 December == JJ:Ef mEENES
2021 (2020: Nil). M (T _FF : &) -
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

154

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits during the year (2020: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of our directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
or controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to our Group's business to which our Group was a party
and in which a director of our Company had a material interest,
whether directly to indirectly; subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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10 EENTANRERS 2

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

EEHRREF
RAFE  HEEERIRHHER
REMERAREN( T _FF : &) -

ESHRBEN
RAFE  BEEFREEKE R
REMBEREN T _FF - &) -

RERRESREAE=FR
HNRE

REBEE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
IFE - AEBTAEERENS

ERBMAERE=FZARE=
ToTF )

EHUES EELHNEE
RABURBAEAAGER
ERERREMRSWER

RBE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—H
EFE HBEAEE  EFEHY
ZERAEREER X EAMA] L
EAER  BUERREMR SR
BH(ZF-%F:E|)-

EERRE  THASHWE
RiER
RERKINANFREEMERE - B8
EEAKRESERAARNES
REFBERNES (ﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁifﬁ
BINAKBEBRBEHNEAR
ZHEAHN(ZT_ZF: ﬂ)
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11 FINANCE INCOME/(COST), NET 11 BEWA(RA) FE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HKS'000
F&T T
Finance income BEKA
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 84 &3R4 S EWHIF B UA 24 69
Finance cost & AN
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENF B (7) (113)
Finance income/(cost), net BMEWA(BA) FEE 17 (44)
12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12 FifEHAX
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated R 2EWERANNBRBOMERFEX
statement of comprehensive income represents: SRR ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET F&T
Current income tax BNERFT1S A
— PRC enterprise income tax — HREPEMREH 661 935
— Hong Kong profits tax — EBBFEH 6,197 1,725
— Over provision of prior periods — B HAR R R (49) (38)
Total current income tax BIHAFR1S Ht 4258 6,809 2622
Deferred income tax (Note 27) RIEFTIS AL (5 27) (29) (14)
Income tax expense FriSfi X 6,780 2,608
(i) Hong Kong profits tax (i) BBFEH
In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime BER-ZZE—/\F—A—BHLEHN
effective from 1 January 2018, Hong Kong profits tax is calculated MEHFNESEHEEHE 2 _F
at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on the remaining == A =Er—EIrEERE
balance of the estimated assessable profits of an operating WEBARMNE2E BB LafigE
subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2021. 8.25% M KT EHBFET - 88 T

R EEBFIEH -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(ii) The PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)
Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law”),
the applicable income tax rate for Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited ("Kyoei
Seiki’) in the PRC is 25%.

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, with respect to a new and high
technology enterprise, the tax levied on its income will be
charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High
New Technology Enterprise Certificate (the “Certificate”) and
completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax
authorities. Kyoei Seiki renewed the Certificate when it expired on
8 November 2020 and the renewed Certificate will expire on 8
November 2023. During the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2021, as a result of Kyoei Seiki qualifying for High New Technology
Enterprise status, the applicable tax rate of Kyoei Seiki is 15%.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate of the
Group entities as follows:

12 FEHAX @)

(i) PECEMBHR(EERESH]
RIBEFPBEEBRE(EEMSE
Bkl REHXBEEEBRERA
A([HEBEBHW ) NP EAER
FRfS i & 5 25% °

BB EEMETE BB
tEME  RESEFHMECER
B ([RE ) R A H 7451 B SE A B 75
MARAREBRTER  EAEM
BIREER R 150 - HEBZ
BN —_ZE_TF+—A)\BRE
R EEREREEERETBR
—TE-Z=F+—A)\BIH - RE
EIE_EFR-_FB-_—F+-A
=+ —HIEFE  AREREE
WMEE MBS EMURNER
ML R A E TR B 15% ©

7R B Bk AT 1S AT ) A B 8 B AR R
EEERNEEMBRESEEANER
e ERMT

2021 2020

f— _—ﬂE —= —EEE'E

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHTT

Profit before income tax bR P15 25 Al A 41,866 16,252

Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to i A AR B A RE A A

profits of the respective subsidiaries MEGTERIE 6,652 2436
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AT 399 391

Research and development tax credit (Note) AP35 B IR (F5T) (222) (181)

Over provision of prior periods BT EE B R R (49) (38)
Income tax expense FriS®if X 6,780 2,608

Note: BisE

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureaus of the
PRC, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 75%
of the research and development expenses from 1 January 2017 to 8 November 2023.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE 13 BREF

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable BRAFMIEAR QD RHEA A LR F BRI
to owners of our Company by the weighted average number of BERTERRNEFHEGTESE - Bt
ordinary shares in issue. The weighted average number of ordinary MENTERMEFLHEHE RN E R
shares for such purpose has been retrospectively adjusted for the (b 27T I (B 3E21) M2 2 4R 8
effects of the issue of shares in connection with the capitalisation of ;o

shares (Note 21).

2021
—E_—F
HK$’000 HK$ (0[0]0]
FER FAT
Profit attributable to equity holders of our RARERRE ARG
Company (HK$'000) (F#m) 35,086 13,644
Weighted average number of shares in BTG IR 8 (FAR)
issue (thousand) 400,000 400,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) SRR EZARZF| (FAENL) 8.8 34
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2020 and HeE—_E-_EFR-_FTE-_—F+=AH
2021 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there were no T -HALFENSRESRANEGR
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the years. EXRBFAER BABEEFETEAET

BEREND BITEBR -
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14 SUBSIDIARIES 14 HIBATE

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 are set out
below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly by the Group, and
the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held
by the Group. The countries of incorporation or registration are also
their principal place of business.

Place of Principal activities
incorporation and and place

Name of subsidiaries kind of legal entity of operation
a7 R 32 3t Bk %

WEARARE EEERER TEERHRRERE

Directly held:
EERE:
Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited The BVI, Investment holding
limited liability company in the BVI
RBREBARES NRBHBRES
ABREEAA REER
Best Linking Holdings Limited The BVI, Investment holding
limited liability company in the BVI
RBARRES REBERRES
AREELTA RERER
Indirectly held:
MRS
Wing Fung Machinery Hong Kong, Investment holding
Company Limited limited company in Hong Kong
REBMERDA Bt REBREER
e NG
Best Linking Limited Hong Kong, Trading of machinery
limited company products in
Hong Kong
KBEBRAT Bt REBEERMER
AR A
Kyoei Seiki Co,, Limited The PRC, Manufacturing of
limited liability company machinery products
in the PRC
REARBERHERAR  FE e BIRUER AR
AREELTA
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AEER_FT-_—Ft+-_A=1t—HH
TEMBARIIELT - REEHIAN -
HEAEREASBEERAHERFAN
EBBEEATHERESRLIERAE
BB NIRERE o EMARL R ELEARI
REFELERIME -

Particulars of Ownership interest
issued share capital held by the Group

BRITRAHE AEEFEMEEEDS
2021 2020
B —T°FF

1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
US$1 each
TR ETHEBR

1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
US$1 each
1A ETTR BB

13,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
shares HK$13,000,000

13,000,000 & & 3@ A%
13,000,000 87T

1 ordinary share HK$1 100% 100%

1R B TR R

Registered capital of 100% 100%
HK$20,000,000

AR A
20,000,000 7 7T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Are WS R Y R

15 9% - BERRE

Right of Officc  Plantand Leasehold Motor Construction
useassets equipment  machinery improvement vehicles in progress Total
EREEE BPOERHE BERESR HEBH RE  ERER 3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

FHT THL THT THL FEL THT AT
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-Z%-A-A
Cost AR 4304 1,160 24480 = = - 29944
Accumulated depreciation ZHTE (1,562) (991) (19.966) = = = (22519)
Net book amount REFE 2782 169 4514 - - - 7425
Yearended 31 December2020  HZE-T-TF

TZA=T-BLEE
Opening net book amount FOBERFE 2,742 169 4514 = = = 7425
Additions nE 1305 54 44 667 270 - 2340
Disposal HE (38) - = = - - (39)
Depreciation e (649) (61) (918) (99) " = (1734)
Exchange differences EHER 205 1 248 34 16 S 514
Closing net book amount FREmFE 3,565 173 3888 602 279 o 8507
At 31 December 2020 R-Z2-FF5+-A=t+-H
Cost AR 5827 1,294 26156 707 286 = 34270
Accumulated depreciation Z:HE (2.262) (1,121) (22,268) (105) @ = (25,763)
Net book amount FEFE 3,565 173 3,888 602 279 = 8,507
Yearended 31 December2021 HZ-ZE-—-F
TZR=t-BLEFE

Opening net book amount FNREFE 3,565 173 3,888 602 279 - 8,507
Additions NE 62 107 77 - - 5,873 6,119
Depreciation il (780) (41) (639) (238) (137) - (1,835)
Exchange differences ERER 83 7 97 12 5 93 297
Closing net book amount FRERFE 2,930 246 3,423 376 147 5,966 13,088
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-%+=-fA=+-H
Cost A 6,037 1,439 26,949 726 294 5,966 41,411
Accumulated depreciation Z:HE (3,107) (1,193) (23,526) (350) (147) - (28,323)
Net book amount REFE 2,930 246 3,423 376 147 5,966 13,088

The right of use assets represents the lease on production factory in the
PRC, and office and carpark in Hong Kong.

EREEERHETBENEERELE
AR R RIFHS

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 - =& = — 4 4F 3§ 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe B % RaR MY A

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 Y% - BERRE@®
During the year, the amounts of depreciation expense charged to cost RAFEE - ISR RITHRA LB
of sales and administrative expenses are as follows: WERZSEMT -
2021 2020
—EC-—-F —TFHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Cost of sales SHE R 1,194 1357
Administrative expenses TR 641 377
1,835 1,734
16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 16 ZERISSTHNEMITA
The Group's financial instruments include the following: AEEMNSRMTARETIEIE

2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi —7—7£'E

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT

Financial assets at amortised costs: REERAIRENESHEE

Trade receivables 5 ERFUR 38,895 22,028
Deposits and other receivables e R HAb W IR 493 54
Cash and cash equivalents B4 NESZEEY 56,387 43,130

95,775 65,212

Financial liabilities at amortised costs: RBHERAIRENESEMAE

Trade payables 2 S ENFIE 8,343 4,465
Lease liabilities HEAR 79 180
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R EAth FE T IR 1,139 1275

9,561 5,920
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TRADE RECEIVABLES 17 EZRWRIE

2021 2020

—B-—F —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TET

Trade receivables B 5 W GRIA 38,895 22,028
As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade NoE-—EER-—FE-—F+—-A=+—
receivables approximated their fair values. B ZB5EWSENETEEE AT EE
The Group's sales are on credit terms primarily from 60 days to 120 days. NEFMEE IR EERET  TENT

60HZE120H -

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based on invoice date, are RIS E= QY - 2 50U S IE B BE S DT
as follows: RN

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E_TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FHBT
Up to 30 days 30 AR 20,499 3,174
31-60 days 31260 H 9,768 4,290
61-90 days 61290 H 4,890 5,259
91-120 days 91£120H 3,738 9,305
38,895 22,028
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17 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17 EZRWFEIE @)
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables were REFHEZ S EWZENEBEETIA TS
denominated in the following currencies: EESHE -
2021 2020
—EC-—-F —TFHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
usD e 37,181 16,846
RMB AR 268 303
JPY H - 16
HKS BT 1,446 4,863
38,895 22,028
The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 RIE_EFR - —F+_A=+—
was the carrying value of the receivables mentioned above. The Group HH &= EERR A gl s IE s iR
does not hold any collateral as security. EME o A& E I &S A T HE T mEE
R e
As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, no provision of impairment for trade RIE_EFR_E-_—F+_A=+—
receivables were made as the expected loss rate were minimal. H: G ARBEHREEXRGAR  UERE

5 MR IE R B4 -
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18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18 AMNNE B RHEMEWRK
RECEIVABLES 15
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Non-current R B
Prepayments for purchase of property, MEEWZE - BERERESN
plant and equipment B FRIA 5,032 4,243
Prepayments for purchase of HEEEMEGERN IR
computer software 800 -
Rental deposits HEZS 18 18
5,850 4,261
Current RE
Deposits and other receivables e R E bW GRIE 475 36
Prepayments for inventories GFERNFIA 3,823 5528
4,298 5,564
Total prepayments, deposits and TERRIE - Ze &k
other receivables Hh EUGRIB 4258 10,148 9,825
The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments, deposits and other AEBBENFIE - e NEMmERZIER
receivables were denominated in the following currencies: REETIA TS EEEHE :
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi —= —/FEE'E
HK$’000 HKS'000
TFHExT T
RMB AR 6,240 5,798
HKS BT 1,107 4,027
usD 5L 1,569 -
JPAY H &l 1,232 -
10,148 9,825
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19 INVENTORIES 19 #&
2021 2020
—B--F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS'000
F#&T FH&T
Raw materials E R 8,287 6,736
Work in progress b e 2,418 2,773
Finished goods RUAY T 15,230 14,687
25,935 24,196
Less: provision for slow moving inventories & 7 $H1F & B (360) (329)
25,575 23,867

The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$69,982,000 (2020: HK$36,865,000) (Note 6).

Movements on the provision for slow moving inventories are as follows:

HE-_Z-—F+-_A=1+—HIEFE "
HRAEASZ LT AEERAINTFE MY
AR 569,982,000 T (— T T4 ¢
36,365,000 78 7L) (MizEe) o

TIHTEREEBIT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
At 1 January n—A—H 329 311
Reversal of provision for slow moving T S RMERE (Fiste)
inventories (Note 6) (50) (116)
Provision for slow moving inventories T B EE (M3t e)
(Note 6) 72 113
Exchange differences MEH =R 9 2]
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H 360 329
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20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERBEEEY
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E_THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T THET
Cash at banks HRITRE 56,347 43,082
Cash on hand FHERS 40 48
Cash and cash equivalents BeMEEEED 56,387 43,130
Maximum exposure to credit risk EaEERR 56,347 43,082
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in RekReEBVNEREBEINATIE
the following currencies: ETE -
2021 2020
=B —F —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THEx THET
HKS BT 32,280 34,328
usD e 22,212 8,263
RMB AR 1,895 419
JPY H - 120
56,387 43,130
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank IRTIRESBIEEHETET ﬂi&ﬁ;@b
deposits rate. As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the carrying amounts FREBEDAE R-BE-_FBEH T —
of cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values. F+—HA=+—H R RREZEYH

FREEEE QN FERE

As 31 December 2021, approximately HK$10,631,000 (2020: R-E—_—F+-_A=+—H ~x5£ER
approximately to HK$3,236,000) of the Group’s cash and cash S RBSEEYA 10631008 T(ZZE=
equivalents were placed with banks in the PRC denominated in RMB or T : 493236000870 ) LA A RE S ETT
USD, which is subject to foreign exchange control regulations of the FRAERBEART  IERTPEAINES
PRC. HFR B o
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Authorised: ETE

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021  RZZE_ZT4F
+ZA=+—HK
R+ A=1—

H 10,000,000,000

21 RAR KRG EE

Nominal value
of ordinary
share
EEREE
HK$'000
FHATT

Number of

ordinary
shares

EEREE

100,000

Nominal
Number of value of

ordinary ordinary Share

share

EBEREE

premium
B 4335 18
HK$'000
THET

shares

EERHE

Issued and paid: EEITRER :
At 1 January 2020 RZEBE-_TF—HF—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 42,511
Dividends paid ERRE @ - = (8,000)
At 31 December 2020 and NR-_E-_TE+-_A=+—H

1 January 2021 r=ZZE-_—49%—H—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 34,511
Dividends paid B E (b) - = (8,000)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=-H=+—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 26,511

Notes: BiaE -

(a) On 29 May 2020, the proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amount to
HK$8,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approved. Such dividend
was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the Group pursuant to the
Article of Association and the Company Law, Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as consolidated
or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The final dividend was paid on
30 June 2020.

(b) On 8 November 2021, the proposed interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share,
amount to HK$8,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approved. Such
dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the Group pursuant
to the Article of Association and the Company Law, Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as
consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The interim
dividend was paid on 13 December 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Capital reserve

Capital reserves of the Group represented the difference between
the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation on 21 December 2018, over the nominal value of
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the
PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be
appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting
accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their
respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created
for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to appropriate
an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profit after income
tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-
tax profits of the current year. A company may discontinue the
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus
reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory
surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the
company, to expand the company’s operations, or to increase the
capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax
profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all currency translation
differences arising from translation difference of the financial
statements of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC.
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(a)

(b)

(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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23 LEASE LIABILITIES 23 HEAE
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (a) REEEERABRTRERIANS
sheets b
The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts EBEAGERY AN THEAES
relating to leases: R B
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT F&T
Right of use assets* ERAEEE*
Properties LES 2,930 3,565

e HEHEEAMEIDE BERER
equipment”. &l

The balances were included in the Note 15 “Properties, plant and

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TH T T

Lease liabilities HEAE

Non-current portion FERNHAEL 7 = 79

Current portion BUEAER 5> 79 101

79 180
Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to approximately BE_ S FSE/F_F-—F+—
HK$1,305,000 and HKS$62,000 during the years ended 31 B=+—HUIEE " THEEER
December 2020 and 2021, respectively. B 9 Bl £91,305,000 7 7T &% 62,000 7%

7|:o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BB HRRW

23 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 23 HEEE#)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) RiZEWBRRPEINESE
statements
The consolidated income statements show the following LeEWERITOTEAEEBN
amounts relating to leases: S
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHTT
Depreciation charge of right FEHEEEITERX
of use assets
Properties LIES 780 649
Finance costs on leases (Note 11) HENmERAR (FE) 7 113
The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 2021 is BE_Z_—FIFENHERS:

B A108000B L (T - F
£ : 38700007 7T) a%fiﬁfﬂ‘f
BENASIHD RFEBLL DA
mmw%ﬁ&mm%nm:gff
F 13,757,000/ 7T % 113,000 7T) °

HK$108,000 (2020: HK$3,870,000), including the payment of
principal elements and interest elements of lease liabilities
amounting to HK$101,000 and HK$7,000 (2020: HK$3,757,000 and
HK$113,000) respectively.

AEBNRTHEESEEERELIRE
BHERFRNEES  Z5HE

BEREHA RN EERMNRD
FHEMAE - R_ZE_ZF~A
Z+HB ARRRTEEERE

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office and
carpark in Hong Kong. These lease liabilities were measured at
net present value of the lease payments for the lease terms that
are not yet paid. On 25 June 2020, the Company and the landlord
of the production factory in the PRC has entered into a new

contract, superseding the original rental contract. The rental
agreement has the same scope of lease with revised monthly
rental, totaling HK$3,644,000 for 72 months, which was fully paid
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MEXITLFHELN BREEHEE
aR - HEHZMNEEHEER -
A S BEET & $£3,644,0007%
JL 7’%%@721!)% EREEZZZ
EF+_A=Z+—BIUEFEREX
F o
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24 TRADE PAYABLES 24

Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise amounts
outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The average credit
period taken for trade purchase is generally from 0-90 days.

B 5 EBNRE

ERERRANESEAREBRIER AT
NFELHEEARBETNERE - BHH
BRI EESH—MKRAE0E90AR -

2021 2020

—®_-—F S22

HK$'000 HKS$'000

TE T FAT

Trade payables B S ENFIR 8,343 4,465
As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the ageing analysis of the trade R-BE-_EFER T —F+-_A=1+—

payables, based on invoice date, are as follows:

B Z3ENFUBERZEZBHNRED
MR :

2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TExT TABTT
Up to 30 days T2 30H 7,057 3,012
31-60 days 31£60H 1,271 1,144
61-90 days 61290 H - 210
Over 3 months HBid3EA 15 99
8,343 4,465
2021 2020
—E-——F —E T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FETT
RMB AR 622 2,057
HKS BT 7,719 2,406
usD ETT 2 2
8,343 4,465

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade E’\\ EEEN_E-—F+-_A=+—

payables approximate their fair values.
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25 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 EtERRHEMENRIE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
Accrued auditors' remuneration JE 2% 2 B 57 B 822 1,000
Accrued employee benefit expenses EET R ERAIRX 759 585
Other accruals HitvfErT &R 199 157
Other payables E T 3RIE = 4
Payable for purchase of property, BEYE  WENMEKEN
plant and equipment FEfTFRIAE 117 114
Contract liabilities (Note 5¢) EHEE (S 4 8
1,901 1,868
The carrying amounts of the Group's contract liabilities, accruals and REBNEYAGE EtBRNEMEN
other payables were denominated in the following currencies: FIERREENTIEEE :
2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$'000 HKS'000
FH&T T
RMB AR 1,030 843
HKS BT 871 1,025
1,901 1,868
26 DIVIDENDS 26 BB
(a) Dividends declared and paid during the year (@) FAREEMRIKFTHERSE
2021 2020
—B-EF —ECTEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
Interim dividends declared and paid in BT —FEE 5 HEEN
respect of 2021 of HK2.0 cents per share i e B B A% 2.0 541 8,000 =
Final dividends declared and paid in BT _EFEE MK
respect of 2020 of HK2.0 cents per share KR BR AR B &A% 2.0 Il = 8,000
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26 DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) Dividends for the year

26 BRE (&)
(b) FRRE

2021 2020

=B —F —E_TF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FE T FHTT

Interim dividends of HK2.0 cents per share R EARR B =A% 2.0 1L 8,000 =
Proposed final dividends of HK2.0 cents R HARS B &A% 2.0 741

per share (Note) (Ff¥E) 8,000 -

16,000 =

Note:

The proposed final dividend have been proposed by the directors after the report
date. The proposed final dividend, subject to the shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, is not reflected as dividend payables as at 31
December 2021.

27 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follow:

27

B3 -

BEAPRENBEANRHESTES -2
BEARRAREAGFRRREERRBFASH
BERIAER  MAARBE-T-—F1+=
A=t HILLFERRBEMNIE

IESE Fr 1S 5

REBEE-_ZT_ZTFR_ "**E-%*H
ST BLEFEMNEEREHEES
(Y 5T M SH R — %Ri‘%?xﬂélu__nﬁﬂmﬁ%)
ol

Lease Provision for
liabilities inventories Total
HEAE FERE st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THIT T T
At 1 January 2020 N_E_TF—H—H 17 47 64
Charged to consolidated Riza2Ek SRk
statement of comprehensive (MtzE12)
income (Note 12) 14 - 14
As at 31 December 2020 R -FF
+=—A=+—H 31 47 78
At 1 January 2021 R-ZB=-—-5—H—H 31 47 78
Charged to consolidated RERE AW R R R
statement of comprehensive (MtzE12)
income (Note 12) 22 7 29
As at 31 December 2021 R=-B=-—F
+=A=+—H 53 54 107
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately
HK$2,881,000 (2020: HK$2,413,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
subsidiaries in the PRC of approximately HK$28,808,000 (2020:
HK$24,129,000) as our directors considered that the timing of the
reversal of the related temporary differences can be controlled and the
related temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be taxable
in the foreseeable future.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a) For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence
over the Group in making financial and operating decisions.
Related parties may be individuals (being members of key
management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their
close family members) or other entities and include entities
which are under the significant influence of related parties of the
Group where those parties are individuals. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control.
The director is of the view that the following individual were
related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021:

Name Relationship with the Group

Mr. YP Chan Shareholder and Executive Director

(b) Key management compensation

Key management include executive directors and the senior
management of the Group. The compensation paid or payable to
key management for employee services is shown below:

4 A

N

27

28

B 75 ¥R R M AL

IESE PR 1S ()

RZE-_—F+-A=+—H ' WEFHF
2 B B8 A B AR BE S B F1492,881,0008 7L (=
T T4F 24130007870 ) B FEGFEFORL
HERELEFTS T & B4 28808000/ T (=
T-TH 1 24129000/87T) RARES
RABLABENEZMMETE - B8
BT =2 TR Al LATE R 8 A R
[©] & 7 B R F o

BBLETXS

(a) EEFEVBHRERMS  W—F
TEEL BB R & IE R SE 5 E A RS
EEIRBZEEAEERBMNERNTE
W@ B REARNEE G - @8
B AREINAL(BIEZEERA
BB  BEARER SHEERE
EHKE)NEMERE YRR
REBERAE T (BENAL)EXRF
BNER - WA HLRES - TR
SRR BB @Y c EER EL/{T“
AMATARBE-ZS-_TFR=
——F+ZA=+— EIJJ:@EEE$
EEER S HAEERTEAE T

péE BN E R R
RIS ST BREATES
(b) EEEEEZHM

TEEEEERASENNITES
AR ERERE -
HEMNER

shiE B RS AT
EEENFME RO

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECTF

HK$’000 HKS'000

F#&xT FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %ﬁ% AR R EWE R 1,862 1,715
Retirement benefit costs — defined BRI A — EREERETE

contribution plans 68 62

1,930 777
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29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF 29 HZ&HE&RERME
CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) BRETBHRANEANELEFRBR

generated from operations

= H R

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHIT
Cash flows from operating activities R&TEHRLKE
Profit before income tax B PT1S B Bl & A 41,866 16,252
Adjustments for: AT RIEFRE -
Amortisation oy = 76
Depreciation e 1,835 1,734
Provision/(reversal of provision) T ERE (B ERE) TR
for slow moving inventories, net 22 (3)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE « BE M RBW S
plant and equipment - (M
Finance income BhE WA (24) (69)
Finance cost BB PR 7 113
Changes in working capital HEELEE 43,706 18,102
Trade receivables H 5 WA (16,526) (4,380)
Prepayments, deposits and TERIE - ke &k
other receivables o Y GRIE 1,366 (934)
Inventories FE (1,061) 825
Trade payables B SRS FIA 3,846 2,840
Accruals and other payables FEETE R K E A A FRIE 7 (490)
Net cash generated from operations &% fr5IH & F5 31,338 15,963
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29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF 29 44 B4 HREXMIT 2
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b)) FMETEBRELEEZIHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TRFAVWNAEBRMEEHAELR
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash ENEE 2REHSEIEES#
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for o gEEHMEALARBANASE
which cash flows were, or future cash flow will be, classified in the @ﬁé\fﬁi\ﬁi DI ARE R
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from FriSIeREaErREnE AR NKIE
financing activities. BIME °
Lease
Liabilities
HEAE
HK$'000
FAT
Net debt as at 1 January 2020 RIZBEZZEF—F—AMFER (2,715)
Cash flows REME 3,870
Other non-cash movements HAib3ER & & F)
— Additions —RE (1,206)
— Accrued interest — EEFLE (113)
— Foreign exchange adjustments — HNEFHE (16)
Net debt as at 31 December 2020 NZE_TFF+ZA=+—AWNFER (180)
Net debt as at 1 January 2021 R-B-—-5-A—-HNFEHK (180)
Cash flows ReEmeE 108
Other non-cash movements HAib IR & FF)
— Accrued interest — EEFE (7)
Net debt as at 31 December 2021 R-B-—F+-A=+—BWFEH (79)
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30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30 EAREE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the RBEHREITNEAERBEENSE
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: REARFEZWOT :
2021 2020
—®_—F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHTT
Property, plant and equipment and W - BB MR
intangible assets REMAE
Not later than one year THBB—F 8,251 5,125
Later than one year but not later than five years —F LA FE BB AT 822 405
9,073 5,530
31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31 HAREE
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—H FA&EEL
contingent liabilities (2020: Nil). BAEMEASREBE(ZZ_ZF &) -
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 32 RKAFEEEBREGESD
THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company AABEERER
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RETBA ﬂﬁ'ﬁxﬁ 41,888 41,888
Loan to a subsidiary BERFT—HEWBA 10,850 1,879
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments TERRIR 104 n
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEEY 15,995 24954
Total assets EEHE 68,837 68,721
Equity and liabilities EEREE
Equity attributable to owners ARREETAEGER
of the Company
Share capital N 4,000 4,000
Reserves e €) 44,573 54,994
Total equity R 48,573 58,994
Liabilities =R+
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals EEtE A 753 1,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASTBT BB A A58 19,511 8727
Total liabilities =Rk 20,264 9,727
Total equity and liabilities EEkEEHEE 68,837 68,721
The Balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of AARMEEBBEREBRESENS
Directors on 22 March 2022 and was signed on its behalf; =A==+ At URREFTE
#E o
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
BRIE M BREE M
Director Director
BF e
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32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 32 ARIEEABREREEEE®)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
(@) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AARIREES
Share Other Accumulated

capital reserve losses Total
EN Hitf# RitE® st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT TAT FAT

Balance at 1 January 2020 RZE-ZEF—A—H
EoF 4,000 84,399 (19,036) 69,363
Loss for the year FANEE - (2369) (2369)
Total comprehensiveincome 2 TH Uiz 458 4,000 84,399 (21,405) 66,994

Transactions with equity HEZEEANRS

holders:
Dividends paid BERRE - (8,000) - (8,000)
(8,000) = (8,000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 WRZZE_ZTF+_A

—+—HNE% 4,000 76,399 (21,405) 58,994

Balance at 1 January 2021 R-EBE-—-%—HA—H
M &R 4,000 76,399 (21,405) 58,994
Loss for the year FREE - - (2,421) (2,421)
Total comprehensive income 2 E 4% 4,000 76,399 (23,826) 56,573

Transactions with equity HEZHEANRS

holders:
Dividends paid BARE - (8,000) - (8,000)
- (8,000) - (8,000)
Balance at 31 December 2021 A=ZE=—fF+—=H

=t —HN& 4,000 68,399 (23,826) 48,573
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Financial Summary

815 BB

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group ~ A& BB FIRM M EENEEREE « B2

for the published financial years is as follows: REBERESHNT
RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=t—BLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018

—EB-—-F —Z-FTF = —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT FAT FAT

Revenue WS 132,250 69,499 67,509 46,267
Profit before taxation 55 BT v Al 41,866 16,252 10,557 12,467
Income tax expense ey =5 (6,780) (2,608) (3,594) (2,732)
Profit for the year FRRF 35,086 13,644 6,963 9,735
Attributable to: FEfL -

Shareholders of the Company ViN/NE]]: 323 35,086 13,644 6,963 9,735
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B 15 8 &

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHES

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018
—EB--F —ZT-FTF 2 —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET T FHEIT
Assets EE

Non-current assets IEREEE 19,045 12,846 9,799 9,357
Current assets BB E 125,155 94,741 91,247 40,166
Total assets BERE 144,200 107,587 101,046 49,523

Equity and liabilities EEREE
Total equity SRR (129,531) (101,074) (92,398) (39,615)
Non-current liabilities IERBERE - (79) (2,338) (2,575)
Current liabilities mEBE (14,669) (6,434) 6,310) (7,333)
Total liabilities BE4RE (14,669) 6,513) (8,648) (9,908)
Total equity and liabilities B kBERRE (144,200) (107,587) (101,046) (49,523)

Note:  The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the two years ended 31 December iz : A"ERHEE-_T—+EER-ZEZ-N\E+-_A=+—H

2017 and 2018 and of the assets, equity and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 are IREAFENREEERE  UER-_E—+tFK =
extracted from the Prospectus. T N\F+_A=+—HWNEE  #EFZRBEBEYHE
BRERER -
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